

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1785 (2008) 32-54

www.elsevier.com/locate/bbacan

Review

## The merlin interacting proteins reveal multiple targets for NF2 therapy

## Daniel R. Scoles\*

Women's Cancer Research Institute, CSMC Burns and Allen Research Institute, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, 8700 Beverly Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90048, USA Division of Gynecologic Oncology, CSMC Burns and Allen Research Institute, Cedars-Sinai Medical Center, 8700 Beverly Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90048, USA Department of Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine, University of California at Los Angeles, 8700 Beverly Boulevard, Los Angeles, CA 90048, USA

> Received 24 May 2007; received in revised form 29 September 2007; accepted 3 October 2007 Available online 12 October 2007

#### Abstract

The neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2) tumor suppressor protein merlin is commonly mutated in human benign brain tumors. The gene altered in NF2 was located on human chromosome 22q12 in 1993 and the encoded protein named merlin and schwannomin. Merlin has homology to ERM family proteins, ezrin, radixin, and moesin, within the protein 4.1 superfamily. In efforts to determine merlin function several groups have discovered 34 merlin interacting proteins, including ezrin, radixin, moesin, CD44, layilin, paxillin, actin, N-WASP, βII-spectrin, microtubules, TRBP, eIF3c, PIKE, NHERF, MAP, RalGDS, RhoGDI, EG1/magicin, HEI10, HRS, syntenin, caspr/paranodin, DCC, NGB, CRM1/exportin, SCHIP1, MYPT-1-PP1δ, RIβ, PKA, PAK (three types), calpain and *Drosophila* expanded. Many of the proteins that interact with the merlin N-terminal domain also bind ezrin, while other merlin interacting proteins do not bind other members of the ERM family. Merlin also interacts with itself. This review describes these proteins, their possible roles in NF2, and the resultant hypothesized merlin functions. Review of all of the merlin interacting proteins and functional consequences of losses of these interactions reveals multiple merlin actions in PI3-kinase, MAP kinase and small GTPase signaling pathways that might be targeted to inhibit the proliferation of NF2 tumors.

Keywords: Merlin; Schwannomin; Neurofibromatosis 2; NF2; Interacting protein

#### Contents

1.	Introduction								
2.	Merlin folding and function								
3.	The N	Aerlin inte	racting proteins						
	3.1.	Activato	rs and suppressors of merlin function						
		3.1.1.	Merlin kinases and phosphatases (PAK, PKA, MYPT-1-PP18)						
		3.1.2.	Calpain						
	3.2.	Structura	l proteins supporting merlin function						
		3.2.1.	Actin						
		3.2.2.	βII-spectrin						
		3.2.3.	Microtubules						
	3.3.	Growth	activators suppressed by merlin						
		3.3.1.	Ezrin/moesin/radixin (the ERM proteins)						
		3.3.2.	CD44						
		3.3.3.	Layilin						
		3.3.4.	TRBP						
		3.3.5.	eIF3c						

\* Tel.: +1 310 423 2159; fax: +1 310 423 0299. *E-mail address:* Scolesd@cshs.org.

0304-419X/\$ - see front matter  ${\ensuremath{\mathbb C}}$  2007 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.bbcan.2007.10.001

3.3.	РІКЕ 40	0
3.3.	Syntenin	1
3.3.	NHERF	1
3.3.	RalGDS	1
3.3.1	EG1/magicin	2
3.3.1	HEI10	2
3.3.1	N-WASP	3
3.4. Grov	inhibitors that function with merlin.	3
3.4.	MAP	3
3.4.	RhoGDI	4
3.4.	Paxillin	4
3.4.	HRS	4
3.4.	DCC	5
3.4.	NGB	5
3.4.	Expanded	6
3.5. Prote	s with uncertain roles in merlin action	6
3.5.	CRM1/exportin	6
3.5.	RIβ	7
3.5.	Caspr/paranodin	7
3.5.	SCHIP1	7
4. Conclusions		8
References		9

#### 1. Introduction

Neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2) is an autosomal dominant disorder that predisposes individuals to the development of multiple tumors of the central and peripheral nervous system. Germline mutations of the *NF2* gene cause most inherited tumors of Schwann cell, meningeal or ependymal origin. Autosomal dominant NF2 is a relatively rare disorder with an incidence of 1 in 33,000 to 40,000 [1] and linkage analysis showed that NF2 is genetically homogeneous [2]. NF2 is characterized by bilateral vestibular schwannomas, and NF2 patients are also commonly burdened with spinal schwannomas, meningiomas, ependymomas, cutaneous neurofibromas, and cutaneous schwannomas [3–6]. Among sporadic tumors, virtually all schwannomas, 50% of meningiomas and ~5% of ependymomas and harbor *NF2* mutations [7–11].

The *NF2* gene was identified in 1993 in two labs and named merlin and schwannomin [12,13]. *NF2* was localized to chromosome 22q12 and consists of 17 exons and spans approximately 100 kb of genomic sequence. Exons of the *NF2* gene are alternatively spliced to form two common isoforms, referred to as isoform 1 and isoform 2 [14–16] (Fig. 1). In addition, a variety of other isoforms of the *NF2* gene have been described in tumors [17,18], and unique isoforms may exist in the mouse [15]. The *NF2* cDNA sequence predicts a protein of 595 amino acids (590 for isoform 2) with an estimated molecular weight of 65 kDa.

Merlin belongs to a superfamily of proteins that includes band 4.1 protein in erythrocytes, talin, the ezrin, radixin, moesin (ERM) family and also possesses homologies to the family of protein tyrosine phosphatases. This superfamily of proteins is involved in membrane organization with respect to the cytoskeleton. These proteins, with the exception of the protein tyrosine phosphatase family, have a common structural organization: a globular N-terminal domain followed by a long  $\alpha$ -helical structure and a charged carboxy-terminal domain. Many of the proteins that interact with merlin also bind several proteins found in the protein 4.1 superfamily.

Since the identification of the *NF2* gene, significant advances have been made on determining merlin's function. Merlin interacts with multiple other proteins whose functions aid in the understanding of merlin function, but a specific pathway in which merlin actions suppress tumor growth in a manner associated with NF2 pathogenesis still remains undefined. This review will summarize information on each of the known merlin interacting proteins with cross-references that provide insight into merlin function. The review concludes with a comment on therapeutics that may be effective for treating NF2.

#### 2. Merlin folding and function

The classic model for merlin interactions is ezrin and other ERM proteins, which are highly homologous to merlin. On average, the N-terminal domains among ERM proteins are 63% homologous to that of merlin, and the C-terminal domains are 28% homologous which is where merlin most diverges from the group. ERM proteins fold in a "head-to-tail" manner. The mechanism of ERM protein folding was first demonstrated for ezrin which is found in dormant monomers and active oligomers with itself and other ERM proteins in a manner regulated by ERM protein phosphorylation [19].

Merlin also binds the ERM proteins and interacts with itself [20–23]. Merlin's self-interactions were, as for ERM proteins, characterized in a head-to-tail manner, and changes in merlin folding are associated with altered tumor suppressor function of merlin. As first shown in ezrin and moesin, for the C-terminal domain to interact with the N-terminal domain the N-terminal





Fig. 1. Location of binding sites in merlin for all merlin binding proteins. Arrows indicate cleavage sites by calpain and the location of serine 518 phosphorylated by PAK and PKA. No proteins have been shown to interact with residues encoded by the alternatively spliced exon 16 of merlin isoform 2, which is not shown.

domain itself must first be folded (or "activated") [24,25]. By testing interactions between GST-merlin proteins and *in vitro* translated merlin proteins, Gutmann et al. showed a similar mechanism for merlin folding in which interaction between amino acids 8–121 and 200–320 within the N-terminal domain was required before interaction between amino acids 302–308 in the N-terminal domain and 580–595 in the C-terminal domain could occur. N–C-terminal domain folding does not occur in merlin isoform 2 and it is thought that this difference in

structure between the isoforms is why isoform 2 lacks a tumor suppressor function [26–28].

There are several studies that support this folding model for merlin and its requirement for merlin function. N-terminal domain folding is needed for merlin membrane localization and was disrupted by some *NF2* missense mutations [29]. Using affinity co-electrophoresis (ACE), Gonzalez-Agosti et al. [23] showed that N-terminal domain fragment of amino acids 1–332 interacted with a C-terminal domain fragment of amino acids



Fig. 2. Model for merlin folding. Merlin in its active form is a suppressor of growth and is folded and unphosphorylated at serine 518. Serine 518 phosphorylation in merlin prevents the C-terminal domain to bind the N-terminal domain, which itself requires intradomain folding before N–C domain interaction can take place. The folded N-terminal domain is represented by a globular shape. Merlin is phosphorylated at serine 518 by PKA and PKA and is dephosphorylated by MYPT-1-PP1 $\delta$ . Merlin folding is also altered by alternative splicing and *NF2* mutation. Merlin folding can enhance or inhibit its interactions with other proteins. The N-terminal,  $\alpha$ -helical and C-terminal domains are indicated.

340-595 of merlin isoform 1 but not amino acids 340-590 of merlin isoform 2. They also showed that N-terminal domain merlin binding sites are more available for NHERF/EBP50 interaction in merlin isoform 2 than in merlin isoform 1 by testing interactions between immobilized NHERF-GST fusion proteins with COS-7 cell lysates containing exogenous FLAGmerlin proteins [23]. Gonzalez-Agosti et al. [23] concluded that merlin isoform 1 can take on a conformation that partly masks the NHERF binding site in the merlin N-terminal domain. Yeast two-hybrid data support the model as well. Merlin isoform 1 Nand C-terminal domain fragments including residues 1-339 and 256-595 interacted while 1-167 and 252-595 did not [22]. By testing interaction between GST fusion proteins, Nguyen et al. [64] showed that the N-terminal domain of merlin could not bind the C-terminal domain deleted of amino acids 594-595 found only in merlin isoform 1.

Phosphorylation is another important regulator of merlin conformation and is required for proper merlin function. In ERM proteins inter- and intramolecular interactions and association with the actin cytoskeleton are regulated by tyrosine and threonine phosphorylation which unmasks ERM protein binding sites for actin and NHERF/EBP50 [19,30,31]. Merlin folding is regulated by phosphorylation at serine 518 by the p21-activated kinases (PAKs) and cAMP dependent-protein kinase A (PKA) [32–35]. Merlin phosphorylation prevents N–C domain folding in merlin, resulting in merlin inactivation and relocalization [32,34–37] (Fig. 2).

#### 3. The Merlin interacting proteins

There are 34 proteins known to interact with merlin, including the three ERM proteins, calpain, four kinases (only one stringently verified as a direct interactor), one phosphatase, and 25 other proteins including one known only in *Drosophila* (Table 1). An illustration of where each binds in merlin is shown in Fig. 1. What follows is a description of each of the merlin interacting proteins in the same order as presented in Table 1. Because many of the interacting proteins have multiple functions the interacting proteins were organized into groups depending upon how they affect merlin function. Effort was also made to present the cell types in which each of the interactions were demonstrated, some of which were not relevant to NF2.

#### 3.1. Activators and suppressors of merlin function

The proteins presented in this section represent a class of merlin interacting proteins that directly alter merlin structure resulting in either merlin activation or merlin inactivation. These include the phosphatases, kinases and proteases. The kinases and proteases were also briefly discussed in Section 2, above with regard to the effect of phosphorylation on merlin folding and function.

# 3.1.1. Merlin kinases and phosphatases (PAK, PKA, MYPT-1-PP1 $\delta$ )

Phosphorylation of merlin is critical for the control of merlin folding and protein binding and has a significant effect on merlin function and subcellular localization. Merlin phosphorylation occurs at serine 518 and can be accomplished by p21-activated kinases (PAKs) and cAMP dependent protein kinase A. Merlin dephosphorylation is accomplished by MYPT-1-PP1\delta.

The p21-activated kinases constitute a family of conserved serine/threonine protein kinases that are activated by both Rac and Cdc42. There are six different PAK proteins, (PAK1-6) that are highly conserved [38]. Among these, PAK1 and PAK4 were shown unregulated in a wide variety of cancers [38]. Kissil et al. [33] demonstrated a direct interaction between PAK1 and merlin by GST pull-down assays. The PAK1 binding site in merlin was localized to within the merlin N-terminal domain residues 1-313, and the binding site in PAK was in the cdc42/ Rac binding domain (PBD) [33]. Kissil et al. demonstrated that the interaction is dynamic, depending upon cell density. PAK1 inhibits the activity of merlin by phosphorylating it at serine 518 [33,34]. Merlin is also an inhibitor of PAK1 activity, preventing Rac to bind and activate PAK1 [33]. Therefore merlin loss by NF2 mutation is associated with hyperactive PAK1 activity. Evidence for this was provided by reduced PAK1 activity in RT4 rat schwannoma cells upon overexpression of merlin [33], and the prior observation that merlin can negatively regulate Rac-mediated signaling and cell transformation [36]. Merlin also inhibits Ras activation which may also be a consequence of merlin inhibition of PAK [39]. Additionally, PAK1 specific inhibitors blocked merlin-deficient tumor cells but not merlin positive cells, demonstrating that PAK1 may be a highly effective therapeutic target for the treatment of NF2 [40]. Phosphorylation of merlin at serine 518 was also demonstrated by PAK2 and PAK6 which may not be highly expressed in Schwann cells and therefore are of uncertain relevance to NF2 [32,34]. Merlin is also phosphorylated by PKA [35]. Alfthan et al. demonstrated that PKA phosphorylation of merlin was PAK independent by showing merlin phosphorylation by PKA when PAK was specifically inhibited [35]. This was a useful demonstration because PKA also interacts with and phosphorylates PAK to inhibit its kinase activity.

Merlin dephosphorylation is accomplished by the myosin phosphatase MYPT-1-PP1 $\delta$ . MYPT-1-PP1 $\delta$  consists of a MYPT-1 regulatory subunit and PP1 $\delta$  catalytic subunit encoded by different genes [41]. GST pull-down studies demonstrated that the MYPT-1 regulatory subunit interacts within merlin residues 312–341 and activates merlin by dephosphorylating serine 518 [42].

#### 3.1.2. Calpain

Observations of merlin losses in tumors where no mutations could be identified to account for such losses were the bases for studies on proteolytic cleavage of merlin as a possible mechanism of NF2 tumorigenesis. Kimura et al. [43] demonstrated that *in vitro* proteolysis of a 35 kDa merlin fragment was abolished by addition of the specific calpain inhibitor carbobenzoxyl-leucinyl-leucinal (Z-LLAI). Additional proteolysis assays with *m*-calpain and various bacterially-purified merlin fragments fused to GST demonstrated calpain cleavage sites in merlin that specify for cleavage at the N-terminal sides of either of merlin lysines L295 or L299 [43,44]. Kimura et al.

### Table 1

The merlin interacting proteins

Interacting protein	Function	Interacting region (amino acids)	Citation	Note
Merlin	Multifunctional tumor suppressor	8–121 binds 200–300 302–308 binds 580–595	Scoles et al. [53,161] Huang et al. [20] Grönholm et al. [22] Gutmann et al. [26]	2,3
Activators and suppre.	ssors of merlin function			
PAK	Merlin kinase	1-313 (PAK1)	Kissil et al. [32,33]	2,4,6,9
			Xiao et al. [34]	
PKA	Merlin kinase	Not determined	Alfthan et al. [35]	6,8,9
MYPT-1-PP1δ	Merlin phosphatase	312-341	Jin et al. [42]	2,6
Calpain	Merlin cleavage	Not determined	Kimura et al. [43]	6,10,11
Structural proteins sup	pporting merlin function			
βII-spectrin	Cytoskeletal structuring,	469-590	Scoles et al. [56]	1,2,3,4
	focal adhesions			
Actin	Cytoskeletal structuring	178–367	Huang et at. [20] Xu and Gutmann [49]	2,4
Microtubles	Criteglicalistal atmissioning	122 202	Brault et al. [29], James et al. [51]	2.7
Microtubles	Cytoskeletal structuring	122-302	Xu and Gutmann [49]	2,7
Growth activators sup	pressed by merlin			
Ezrin	Cytoskeleton-membrane interactions	1–313	Meng et al. [65], Nguyen et al. [210] Grönholm et al. [22] Gutmann et al. [21]	1,2,3
Radixin	Cytoskeleton-membrane interactions	Not determined	Gutmann et al. [21]	2
Moesin	Cytoskeleton-membrane interactions	1–332	Gonzalez-Agosti et al. [23]	2
CD44	Hyaluronan signaling, focal adhesions	1–50	Sainio et al. [68] Bai et al. [69]	1,2,4
Lavilin	Focal adhesions, hyaluronan signaling	1-332	Bono et al [72]	12
TRBP	Protein translation	288-595	Lee et al $[145]$	1234
elF3c	Protein translation	1_304	Scoles et al [82]	12,3,4
DIKE	P13-kinase signaling	1_332	Bong et al $[102]$	12,5,7
Syntenin	Axon growth II 5Po signaling	566 505	Inpratingur et al [102]	1,2,4
Syntenin	endosomal localization	500-595	Jaimaupour et al. [103]	1,2,5
NHERF	NHE and cMAP signaling, AJ formation	1–332	Murthy et al. [119]	2,3,4
RalGDS	Small GTPase signaling	1–288	Ryu et al. [128]	1,2,3,4
EG1/Magicin	Small GTPase signaling	340-590/595	Wiederhold et al. [130]	1,2,3,4
HEI10	Cell cycle regulation	306-339	Grönholm et al. [137]	1,2,3,4
N-WASP	Actin polymerization	1–332	Manchanda et al. [54]	1,2
Growth inhibitors that	t function with merlin			
MAP	Small GTPase signaling	288-595	Lee et al [145]	1234
RhoGDI	Small GTPase signaling	1-341	Maeda et al [154]	124
Paxillin	Focal adhesions	50-70 and $425-450$	Fernandez-Valle et al [157]	124
HRS	Endoctytic trafficking	453-557	Scoles et al [111]	1234
DCC	Cell adhesion and neurite outgrowth	1_341	Martin et al [168]	2,2,3,4
NGB	Tumor suppressor GTPase	1-57 and $288-344$	Lee et al $[170]$	1234
Drosophila expanded	Mediates control of fly development	522–635	McCartney et al. [180]	2,4
Polo in moulin autor	ssion of arouth unclear			
CRM1/exportin	Nuclear export	539-551	Kressel and Schmucker [138]	6.12
RIB	PKA function, myelination learning memory	463-480	Grönholm et al. [185]	1.2 3 4 8
Caspr/paranodin	Myelination, BI integrin signaling	1-314	Denisenko-Nehrbass et al [197]	1.2
SCHIP-1	Unknown	1-27 and $280-323$	Goutebroze et al [198]	12345
501111-1	Chikilowii	1 27 unu 200 323	Gouleoloze et al. [170]	1,2,3,7,3

Supported by <sup>1</sup>co-immunoprecipitation, <sup>2</sup>in vitro binding assays, <sup>3</sup>yeast two-hybrid interaction, <sup>4</sup>subcellular co-localization.

<sup>5</sup>Interaction demonstrated only with partial or mutant merlins.

<sup>6</sup>Interaction assumed by functional analysis.

<sup>7</sup>There are several tubulin genes that express microtubule proteins. <sup>8</sup>The PKA holoenzyme includes four subunits made from at least six different genes, including RIβ.

<sup>9</sup>PAK and PKA phosphorylate merlin at serine 518.

<sup>10</sup>Calpain cleaves merlin on the N-terminal sides of merlin lysines 295 and 299.

<sup>11</sup>There are at least 12 different calpain genes.

<sup>12</sup>The interacting region is assumed based on homology in this region with CRM1 nuclear export sequences.

[43] concluded with a model by which tumorigenesis can occur by merlin loss mediated by calpain dependent proteolysis. Subsequent studies have focused on meningiomas since about 50% of meningiomas lack *NF2* mutations. One study demonstrated that calpain activity was increased by oxidative stress in cultured meningioma cells, stimulated by ionomycin,  $H_2O_2$ , or CaCl<sub>2</sub>, resulting in increased endogenous merlin proteolysis detected by immunoblotting [45]. However, in another study that included analysis of 50 meningiomas, 28 were observed to possess activated calpain but a correlation of calpain status with abundance of cleaved merlin could not be demonstrated [46]. A similar finding was observed for meningothelial meningiomas [47]. Therefore, calpain may be important for the regulation of merlin function but does not appear to be a causative factor in NF2.

#### 3.2. Structural proteins supporting merlin function

Merlin is a member of the protein 4.1 superfamily and ERM family of proteins that are known for their structural roles in cytoskeletal organization with respect to the plasma membrane. This section describes merlin interactions with cytoskeletal structural proteins highlighting similarities in function for merlin in cytoskeletal-membrane organization to other protein 4.1 superfamily members.

#### 3.2.1. Actin

Each of the ERM proteins has a well-characterized F-actin binding site in the C-terminal domain, including the last 34 amino acids in ezrin that is lacking in merlin [48]. Similar subcellular distribution between merlin and ERM proteins strongly suggested a similar mechanism in merlin for actin binding. However, while a homologous actin binding site in merlin has not been identified, efforts to identify such a site led to the finding of a unique actin binding site in the merlin Nterminal domain. Interaction between polymerized F-actin and merlin was demonstrated by GST pull-down studies showing that the actin binding site in merlin is within merlin residues 178-367 [49]. These authors showed that actin binding was similar for both merlin isoforms, and was not affected by the NF2 missense mutations L64P, K413E, and L535P. Merlins with the missense mutations V219M and N220Y were also characterized as similar to wildtype merlin in their interaction with actin while the missense mutation L360P and various truncated proteins interacted actin more weakly [50]. Alterations in affinity by the N-terminal domain of merlin may be related to intradomain folding required for optimal actin binding [29]. Other investigators have been unable to demonstrate an interaction between actin and merlin isoform 1, suggesting the merlin interaction with actin is considerably weaker than other ERM proteins [20,51]. While ERM proteins interact with both F-actin and G-actin, merlin interaction with G-actin could not be demonstrated suggesting a distinct functional role for merlin [51].

Efforts to unravel the functional relevance of the merlinactin interaction eventually led to considerable understanding of merlin actions in the Rho and Rac pathways [36,52]. Schwannoma cells were characterized as possessing disorganized actin including abnormal stress fibers and ruffling membranes. In support of this, work by the author demonstrated that knockdown of merlin expression in STS26T schwannoma cells by NF2 antisense resulted in disorganized actin stress fibers [57]. Organization of stress fibers and ruffling membranes has been associated with the Rho and Rac pathways, respectively [53]. These schwannoma cell abnormalities could be returned to normal by overexpression of dominant negative Rho or dominant negative Rac [52]. Because NF2 mutations are the most common abnormalities of schwannoma cells and merlin was demonstrated to directly interact with actin, it was intuitive to hypothesize that over-activation of Rho and Rac and disorganization of the actin cytoskeleton were due to merlin loss. Subsequent work by the same research team demonstrated that replacement of merlin reverses the actin cytoskeletal defects in human schwannoma cells [28]. These authors proved this merlin action exists for merlin isoform 1 but not for merlin with the L64P missense mutation or merlin isoform 2. Therefore, because merlin isoform 2 interacts with actin more strongly than merlin isoform 1 but does not reverse the actin cytoskeletal defects of primary schwannoma cells, the function of merlin on cytoskeletal maintenance may be largely mediated via the Rho and Rac pathways and the direct interactions between merlin and actin may serve other functional purposes. One such function by merlin isoform 2 may be to inhibit the disassembly of F-actin [51]. Additionally, merlin appears to regulate actin polymerization by direct interaction with N-WASP in a manner independent of actin binding [54].

#### 3.2.2. βII-spectrin

Spectrin is a structural protein member of the membrane skeleton.  $\beta$ -spectrin heterodimerizes with  $\alpha$ -spectrin in an antiparallel manner and the  $\alpha$ - $\beta$  heterodimers then form head-totail tetramers that are linked at their ends by a complex of focal adhesion proteins including ankyrin, vinculin, paxillin, and adducin.  $\beta$ -spectrin also binds actin and provides a means for anchoring the cytoskeleton to the membrane skeleton. All spectrins are exceptionally large proteins that consist of small N- and C-terminal domains separated by multiple homologous spectrin repeats. There are a variety of genes encoding different forms of  $\beta$ -spectrin including  $\beta$ I to  $\beta$ V and a variety of splice variants, designated  $\Sigma 1-\Sigma 4$  (see [55] for spectrin nomenclature).

The author identified  $\beta$ II-spectrin as a merlin interactor using the yeast two-hybrid method to screen an adult human brain cDNA library [56]. We verified the interaction between merlin and spectrin by showing that a merlin antibody immunoprecipitated  $\beta$ II-spectrin. We also showed that the interaction between merlin and spectrin is direct by testing the ability for a merlin fragment fused to GST to interact various immobilized fragments of  $\beta$ II-spectrin fused to maltose binding protein (MBP). The minimally interacting regions include merlin C-terminal residues 469–590, and spectrin residues 1774–1992 which includes spectrin repeats 15, 16, and part of 17, determined by *in vitro* binding assays [56]. We have also shown that merlin binds spectrin between spectrin repeats 7–9 [57], subsequently verified by other investigators [58]. Merlin and spectrin co-localized in STS26T cells by confocal microscopy [56]. We also demonstrated that merlin is important for the organization of the actin cytoskeleton. Merlin was also shown to interact with a novel form of spectrin ( $\beta$ -SpII  $\sigma$ 2) that localizes to the plasma membrane of Purkinje cell neurons supporting that merlin might have a role in the organization of neuronal actin [59]. Additionally, protein 4.1R also interacts with  $\beta$ II-spectrin, but at a site that is not conserved in merlin [60].

#### 3.2.3. Microtubules

By investigating merlin interactions with the cytoskeleton it was discovered that merlin interacts with microtubules polymerized in vitro [49]. The interaction is mediated by a microtubule binding region in the N-terminal domain of merlin that is masked in the full-length protein, within merlin residues 122-302. Merlin isoform 1 failed to interact with polymerized microtubules while merlin isoform 2 and various merlin partial proteins (including the residues 1-302) interacted, suggesting the binding site is masked [49]. Subsequent work of the same research team demonstrated that L64P mutation in merlin isoform 1 unfolded the protein allowing interaction with microtubules [61]. Gutmann et al. [26] also tested a number of merlin partial proteins for interaction with microtubules including deletions lacking residues 1-121 narrowing the microtubule binding site to residues 122-302, resulting in the model for merlin folding described above.

The merlin interaction with microtubules was largely used as a tool to formulate the model for how folding in merlin affects interactions with other proteins and there has been little discussion on whether the interaction occurs *in vivo* and what the functional relevance might be. However, one study that showed *Drosophila* merlin is required for oocyte axis formation documented microtubule disorganization in *Drosophila* oocytes harboring mutation in the *Drosophila* merlin gene [62]. Additionally, a recent study showed that merlin binds microtubules in cultured glioma cells and that merlin promotes tubulin polymerization in cultured Schwann cells [63].

#### 3.3. Growth activators suppressed by merlin

The merlin interactions described above provide a basis for understanding the control of merlin activation depending upon its status of phosphorylation and folding as well as interaction with the cytoskeleton. Described in this section are 14 merlin interacting proteins whose functions are primarily growth-stimulating. These constitute a unique class of proteins whose growth-promoting functions are inhibited by merlin interaction.

#### 3.3.1. Ezrin/moesin/radixin (the ERM proteins)

A number of studies have demonstrated interactions between merlin and ezrin, radixin or moesin, the ERM proteins. These interactions are presented in a single section here because of similarity of intra- and intermolecular interactions among ezrin, radixin and moesin, including merlin binding characteristics. Many features of merlin folding were described in Section 2, above, whereby merlin folds in a head-to-tail manner. Heterodimerization among the ERM proteins and merlin also involves N-terminal domain with C-terminal domain interactions. Merlin N-terminal domain affinity for the merlin C-terminal domain is weak compared to ezrin N-terminal domain affinity for the ezrin C-terminal domain [64]. The C-terminal domain of merlin binds the N-terminal domain of ezrin stronger than it binds the N-terminal domain of itself [64,65]. This dynamic interaction likely supports functions of both merlin and ezrin.

Phosphorylation of merlin promotes heterodimerization between merlin and ezrin, suggesting that ezrin preferentially binds inactive merlin in its unfolded conformation [35]. Supporting a functional connection between merlin and ezrin, an expression profiling study comparing mRNA levels between vestibular schwannomas and normal vestibular nerve showed ezrin expression was reduced in five of seven ( $\sim 70\%$ ) of the tumors studied [66].

The regions of interaction involved in merlin self-association are similar to those involved in binding ERM proteins. Binding sites in merlin for ezrin include the N-terminal domain residues 1–313 and the C-terminal residues of isoform 1 only, 359–595 [64]. Few studies have characterized merlin binding with radixin and moesin, demonstrating merlin binding for radixin in GST pull-down assays and narrowing the moesin binding site in merlin to within N-terminal FERM domain residues 1–332 [21,23].

#### 3.3.2. CD44

Shortly after the discovery of the *NF2* gene Tsukita et al. showed that ezrin and CD44 were interacting partners, and thereafter it was hypothesized that merlin might also interact with CD44 based on the high degree of homology between the ezrin and merlin FERM domains [67]. Sainio et al. first demonstrated that CD44 interacted with merlin in a single GST pull-down experiment and observation of immunofluorescent co-localization of endogenous CD44 with exogenous merlin overexpressed in COS-1 cells [68]. The region in merlin where CD44 interacts was recently identified to be within merlin residues 1-50 [69]. Overexpression of merlin lacking these residues in Tr6BC1 human schwannoma cells resulted in elevated tumor growth in xenograft mice [69]. The mechanism for this action was merlin inhibition of CD44 binding of its ligand, hyaluronate [69].

Morrison et al. thoroughly characterized the merlin CD44 interaction, functionally. Merlin interacted with the C-terminal cytoplasmic tail of CD44 in a pull-down assay, a region in CD44 that is conserved among all CD44 isoforms [37]. Expression of the cytoplasmic tail of CD44 blocked the growth inhibition mediated by merlin. Cells overexpressing merlin that were treated with hyaluronate displayed more inhibition of growth compared to cells not overexpressing merlin. Changes in merlin phosphorylation status were also rapidly mediated by hyaluronate treatment. These authors concluded that merlin participates with CD44 in a molecular switch signaling cellular growth at low abundance when merlin is phosphorylated and

unbound to CD44 which is interacted with phosphorylated ezrin and moesin, or growth inhibition at high cell abundance when CD44 is bound to unphosphorylated merlin which then inhibits signaling mediated by Ras.

#### 3.3.3. Layilin

Structural similarities between talin and ERM proteins and the observation that these proteins co-occur with the talin interacting protein layilin at ruffling membranes inspired testing of ERM proteins and merlin for interaction with layilin. Layilin is a transmembrane protein with a C-type lecitin domain that serves as a receptor for hyaluronan [70]. The function of layilin is not entirely certain and extremely little is published on this protein, but it appears that layilin is involved in the organization of focal adhesions controlling cell-cell interactions [71]. The merlin-layilin interaction was demonstrated by GST pull-down assays revealing the minimal regions of interaction to include merlin FERM domain residues 1-332 and layilin residues 330-374 [72]. This region in layilin includes the talin binding site, and excess talin was demonstrated to out-compete with merlin for layilin binding. Co-immunoprecipitation of endogenous layilin with exogenous merlin expressed in a tet-on cell line (RT4-D6P2T) also demonstrated a positive interaction between the two proteins [72]. While phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate (PIP) enhanced the interaction between radixin to lavilin, PIP had no effect on merlin affinity for layilin [72]. No interaction was demonstrated between layilin and ezrin. Bono et al. [72] concluded that since CD44 and layilin share hyaluronan as a ligand and both interact merlin that perhaps these two cell surface receptors also share like functional roles in cell growth and metastasis.

#### 3.3.4. TRBP

The transactivation responsive RNA binding protein (TRBP) is a 366 amino acid protein encoded by the *tarbp2* gene located on chromosome 12p12.1-q13.1, with a pseudogene located on 8q22-qter [73]. Functional studies on TRBP demonstrated oncoprotein-like activity. TRBP interacts with ribosomes and its overexpression promotes cellular proliferation [74,75]. TRBP is a regulator of the interferon-induced ribosome-associated protein kinase PKR [76]. One known function of PKR is to inhibit protein translation upon binding double-stranded viral RNAs. Once bound to double-stranded RNAs, PKR becomes activated by autophosphorylation and then phosphorylates  $eIF2\alpha$ to inhibit its action in protein translation [77]. TRBP overexpression is associated with reduced abundance of phosphorylated PKR and stimulation of protein translation [76]. eIF2 $\alpha$  is overexpressed in some benign and malignant neoplasms of melanocytes and colonic epithelium [78,79].

TRBP was identified as a merlin interacting protein by Gal4based yeast two-hybrid screening of a human adult brain cDNA library [80]. The region of merlin that interacts with TRBP lies within the C-terminal half of merlin residues 288–595. The portion of TRBP involved in interaction with merlin is within TRBP residues 237–366. The interaction was validated in a pull-down assay where GST-TRBP was incubated with extracts of NIH3T3 cells overexpressing full-length merlin or merlin fragments, and also by co-immunoprecipitation from NIH3T3 cells overexpressing both proteins [80]. Co-localization of both proteins expressed as merlin-RFP and TRBP-GFP fusions in NIH3T3 cells was observed at membrane and perinuclear structures by confocal microscopy [80]. TRBP was observed in the nucleolus [80] which is of interest considering both TRBP and PKR had previously been localized to the nucleolus [80,81] and we also had previously co-localized  $\beta$ II-spectrin and merlin in nucleoli [56].

Merlin inhibited proliferation mediated by TRBP overexpression. Lee et al. [145] studied the effects of merlin and TRBP on proliferation by generating stable NIH3T3 cell lines expressing combinations of merlin and TRBP. Growth rates were compared using a tetrazolium/formazan assay method. Vector transfected lines grew slowly compared to rapidly growing TRBP transfected lines, and lines transfected with both TRBP and merlin were intermediate [80]. The same cell lines were assessed in a soft agar clonogenic assay in which only the TRBP transfected lines formed significant numbers of colonies  $(\sim 30)$  after 15 days incubation while all other lines formed fewer than 5 colonies [80]. Lee et al. [145] also assessed the ability for these cell lines to form tumors in the nude mouse. With replicates of three, no mice injected with vector or NF2 transfected cells formed tumors, all mice injected with TRBP transfected cells formed tumors, and only one mouse formed a tumor when injected with cells transfected with both TRBP and NF2. These findings suggest that merlin can inhibit tumorigenesis mediated by TRBP and that merlin can regulate the protein translation pathways controlled by TRBP.

#### 3.3.5. eIF3c

The author identified the eukaryotic initiation factor 3 subunit c (eIF3c) as a merlin binding partner by yeast twohybrid screening of a lymphocyte cDNA library [82]. eIF3c is a 913 amino acid protein that is a member of the eIF3 complex that includes a total of eleven protein subunits. We validated the interaction between eIF3c and merlin in multiple systems. Verifications included three different yeast two-hybrid methods, including the pACT and pGAD10 Gal-4 based systems, and interaction between merlin and eIF3c in the Ras rescue yeast two-hybrid system. Merlin and eIF3c interacted in vitro and the interaction was also demonstrated in vivo in STS26T cells by co-immunoprecipitation of merlin with an anti-eIF3c antibody, and co-immunoprecipitation of eIF3c with two different antimerlin antibodies. Further validation was obtained in cultured STS26T cells by showing a positive fluorescence resonance energy transfer (FRET) signal between endogenous merlin and exogenous myc-tagged eIF3c at cytoplasmic puncta, while FRET was negative in a paired experiment that utilized a myctagged control protein. The interacting regions included the FERM domain of merlin (merlin residues 1-304), and the Cterminal half of eIF3c including eIF3c residues 405-913. We also demonstrated that merlin expression countered eIF3c mediated proliferation of STS26T cells. Because approximately 50% of meningiomas lack merlin because of NF2 gene mutation, we investigated correlated expression in meningiomas. We demonstrated that eIF3c and merlin expression were inversely correlated in meningiomas suggesting that loss of the interaction may be a significant event in tumorigenesis [82]. There are few studies that similarly assessed the expression of a merlin interactor in tumors of the NF2 phenotype. One demonstrated a constant level of HRS expression regardless of merlin expression in meningiomas [21], and two others showed no correlations between merlin and calpain expression [46,47].

Interaction by merlin with eIF3c suggests a possible role for merlin in the regulation of eIF3c-mediated protein translation. Furthermore, this interaction suggests that drugs targeting mTOR may be effective for treating NF2 patient tumors. The eIF3 complex is required for the initiation of protein translation and a direct interaction between eIF3 and mTOR in the preinitiation complex has been demonstrated [83,84]. This interaction is the rate-limiting step in the transition from the G0/ G1 to S phase of the cell cycle and is inhibited by rapamycin [83,85,86]. Note also that an analogous function was described for the homologue to merlin protein 4.1R. Protein 4.1R interacts with the eIF3 subunit eIF3g and had a significant effect on regulating protein translation through this interaction [87]. Additionally, a number of other eIF3 subunits are abnormally expressed in tumors. Overabundance of other eIF3 complex members was associated with pathogenesis of a variety of tumor types. eIF3h is amplified in breast and prostate cancers and eIF3h amplification was significantly associated with decreased survival in prostate cancer patients [88,89]. eIF3a is amplified in breast, cervical, esophageal, stomach, and lung cancers [90,91]. eIF3e is the Int-6 oncoprotein in the mouse, binds eIF3c, and causes malignant transformation in NIH/3T3 cells [92-95]. eIF3c overexpression is associated with testicular germ cell tumors (seminomas) [96,97]. The gene for eIF3c, EIF3S8, is located at CHR 16p11.2 within an unstable region capable of duplication, and intact duplication of the entire eIF3c gene has been demonstrated in multiple tissues [98]. An illustration of how merlin may regulate protein translation by way of its interactions with eIF3c and TRBP is shown in Fig. 3.

#### 3.3.6. PIKE

Another means by which merlin could regulate mTOR signaling is by way of its interaction with the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase) enhancer PIKE, a GTPase that interacts with and enhances PI3-kinase. PIKE has three splice variants including the brain-specific forms PIKE-L and PIKE-S, and a more widely distributed form PIKE-A [99]. PIKE-L and PIKE-A have a C-terminal domain with Arf-GAP function lacking in PIKE-S, and PIKE-A lacks an N-terminal domain found in PIKE-L and PIKE-S that prevents PIKE-A interaction with PI3-kinase and allows it to bind and activate AKT [99]. PIKE also regulates metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs) by way of binding to the mGluR interacting protein Homer [100]. PIKE had previously been shown to interact with protein 4.1N [101]. In testing a hypothesis that merlin and PIKE might also interact based on merlin homology with protein 4.1N, Rong et al. demonstrated merlin interaction with PIKE at an N-terminal domain shared between both the L and S variants of PIKE, and was able to bind both PIKE-L and PIKE-S, but not PIKE-A. The minimal regions of interaction tested for both proteins, demonstrated by in vitro pull-down experiments and co-immunoprecipitation of exogenous proteins overexpressed in HEK293 or RT4-D6P2T cells, included PIKE residues 1-384 and merlin FERM domain residues 1-332. PIKE bound also to the full-length merlin but did not bind a C-terminal domain fragment of residues 342-595 or merlin containing the L64P missense mutation, and merlin failed to interact PIKE containing a P187L missense mutation. Supporting these observations, immunofluorescent microscopy demonstrated greater co-localization for PIKE and exogenous wildtype merlin than L64P merlin in RT4-D6P2T cells. The functional relevance of this interaction involves merlin regulation of PI3-kinase mediated



Fig. 3. Model for merlin regulation of protein translation. (A) Merlin interaction with eIF3c and TRBP involves the merlin N- and C-terminal domains respectively and merlin potentially can bind both simultaneously, blocking eIF3c action in protein translation and preventing TRBP inhibition of PKR leaving it free to phosphorylate eIF2 $\alpha$ , further inhibiting protein translation. (B) Merlin loss by *NF2* mutation would leave eIF3c free to activate protein translation and TRBP available to bind and inhibit PKR. Merlin phosphorylation may also alter its interaction with eIF3c and TRBP.

by PIKE-L binding [102]. Increasing doses of merlin were associated with reductions in phosphatidylinositol phosphate (PIP) indicating reduced PI3-kinase activity. However, L64P merlin had no effect on phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI3P) abundance suggesting that merlin must bind PIKE-L to inhibit PI3-kinase. Overexpression of PIKE-L with the P187L missense mutation or knockdown of PIKE-L by RNA interference prevented merlin mediated reductions in cellular proliferation as determined by MTT assays. Rong et al. [102] concluded that merlin is an inhibitor of PI3-kinase signaling via its interaction with PIKE-L.

#### 3.3.7. Syntenin

Jannatipour et al. [103] demonstrated syntenin as a merlin binding protein using the yeast two-hybrid method. Syntenin is a 30 kDa, 298 amino acid protein with two PDZ domains. The gene for syntenin, SDCBP, is located at CHR 8q12. While merlin isoform 1 interacted with syntenin, Jannatipour et al. [103] were unable to demonstrate syntenin binding by merlin isoform 2. The minimal binding region is within amino acids 566-595 in merlin isoform 1 and amino acids 120-273 in syntenin, encompassing both of its PDZ domains. The interaction required both of the PDZ domains of syntenin and was altered by point mutations to alanine within the last six amino acids of merlin [103]. Jannatipour et al. [103] verified syntenin as a merlin interacting protein by showing bacteriallypurified GST fusions of merlin and syntenin interacted in vitro, and that an anti-syntenin antibody could immunoprecipitate merlin from human erythrocyte cell extracts. These authors also showed that GFP-merlin and GFP-syntenin localized at the membrane in HeLa cells, and that endogenous merlin was predominantly localized to granular structures in the cytoplasm of mouse fibroblast 3T3 cells after a full week of induced expression of syntenin antisense using a tet-inducible system [103].

Syntenin also interacts with syndecans, B-class ephrins, neurofascin, and the interleukin 5 (IL-5) receptor  $\alpha$ -subunit (IL-5R $\alpha$ ) [104–107]. Syndecans are transmembrane proteoglycans that position heterogeneous heparan sulfate chains at the cell surface and possess a conserved cytoplasmic domain within which is the syntenin-binding region [107]. Syndecan-1 is a cell surface heparan sulphate proteoglycan whose expression is altered in various tumor types including breast cancers [108]. B-class ephrins are ligands of the B-class ephrin receptor tyrosine kinases [105]. Neurofascin is a widelyexpressed member of the L1 immunoglobulin superfamily of cell adhesion molecules that is implicated in axonal growth in neurons, and cell attachment mediated primarily by interactions with axonin-1 and tenascin-R [109]. IL-5Ra is expressed in B-cells and granulocytes and associates with syntenin through interaction with its conserved cytoplasmic domain [104]. Activity of the transcription factor Sox4 is stimulated by syntenin association with IL-5R $\alpha$  in the B-cell precursor line BaF3 [104]. Syntenin has been localized to vesicles in CHO cells [107], and to the Rab5 positive early endosome compartment in Madin-Darby canine kidney cells [110] where HRS and merlin also co-occur [111]. Syntenin binding

to phosphoinositide (PIP2) may be required for its localization to early endosomes [112].

Syntenin is a growth promoter that is overexpressed in melanomas and breast cancers [113,114]. More work is necessary to define how merlin might inhibit tumor progression possibly mediated by syntenin.

#### 3.3.8. NHERF

The Na<sup>+</sup>-H<sup>+</sup> exchanger regulatory factor (NHERF) was first described as a 44 kDa phosphorylated protein cofactor of the  $Na^+-H^+$  exchanger (NHE3) that mediates regulation of  $Na^+-$ H<sup>+</sup> exchange transport in rabbit renal brush border membranes (BBM) [115-117]. NHERF interacts with and is required for cAMP-dependent protein kinase A regulation of the BBM Na<sup>+</sup>- $H^+$  exchanger [118]. The ezrin binding phosphoprotein 50 (EBP50) was first described as a collection of polypeptides of 50 to 53 kDa in size eluted from an affinity column, consisting of the N-terminal domain of ezrin saturated with human placental proteins, that ran as a single 50 kDa band upon dephosphorylation [25]. Peptide microsequencing revealed that EBP50 was NHERF [25]. Reczek et al. [25] showed that NHERF/EBP50 also interacted with moesin, is strongly colocalized with ezrin in JEG-3 cells, and is widely expressed in a variety of human and murine tissues.

NHERF was identified as a merlin interacting protein by yeast two-hybrid screening of a human fetal frontal cortex library [119]. NHERF possesses two PDZ domains that are required for interacting with NHE3 [120]. The human NHERF is a 50 kDa protein of 358 amino acids in length. The minimal regions for interaction are amino acids 1–332 in merlin and amino acids 209–358 in NHERF, which is downstream of the PDZ domains in NHERF [23,119]. Murthy et al. [119] verified the interaction between merlin and NHERF by showing immobilized GST-N-terminal domain or full-length merlin isoform 1 could interact with exogenous NHERF overexpressed in COS-7 cells, and by co-localization of NHERF and merlin in COS-7 and HeLa cells in microvilli, lamellipodia, and filopodia.

NHERF is also an important link between merlin and adherens junctions. Merlin inhibition of MAP kinase signaling is mediated by the NHERF interacting protein erbin. Erbin also binds ErbB2 and controls cadheren abundances through interactions with catenins. Merlin association with adherens junction protein complexes was dependent upon erbin abundance and MEK demonstrating a MAP kinase dependency [121]. Merlin loss resulted in lack of adherens junctions and loss of contact dependent growth arrest [122].

#### 3.3.9. RalGDS

Activated by Ras, the Ral guanine-nucleotide dissociation stimulator (RalGDS) is an activator of Ral A and Ral B GTPases, which play important roles in tumor cell antiapoptosis and survival [123,124]. Knockout of Ral A in mice resulted in reductions in tumor incidence and proliferation compared to wildtype controls [125]. RalGDS is a 914 amino acid, 115 kDa ubiquitously expressed protein encoded by the *RALGDS* gene located within the *TSC1* critical region at Chr 9q34.1 [126,127].

RalGDS was identified as a merlin interacting protein by yeast two-hybrid screening [128]. Yeast two-hybrid interaction testing also identified the minimal regions of interaction. RalGDS interacted with merlin between merlin residues 1-288, but RalGDS failed to bind a 1-288 residue merlin fragment lacking residues 131-201. RalGDS also bound merlin fragments including residues 141-595, 1-288, and 288-595. Therefore, merlin residues 131-201 are required for the interaction, but the data suggested that residues 141–288+ are involved, and that merlin residues 141-288 represent the minimal binding region. Merlin bound the C-terminal half of RalGDS within residues 568-914. The interaction was validated as occurring directly between the two proteins by GST pull-down studies whereby <sup>35</sup>S-methionine labeled merlin generated by *in vitro* reverse transcription and translation (TnT) was interacted with purified GST-RalGDS. The interaction was validated to occur in vivo by immunoprecipitation of endogenous merlin with an anti-RalGDS antibody from NIH/3T3 cell extract. Co-immunoprecipitation in the opposite direction was successful from NIH/3T3 extracts containing exogenous merlin and exogenous RalGDS. Evidence for in vivo interaction was also demonstrated by colocalization of exogenous merlin and endogenous RalGDS in NIH/3T3 cells by confocal microscopy. The co-localization study included transfection of a merlin protein lacking residues 131-201, which did not co-localize with RalGDS as predicted by the interaction study.

Merlin inhibited the growth-promoting activities of RalGDS. Knowing that RalA more tightly binds Ral binding protein 1 (RalBP1) when RalA is GTP bound, and that RalGDS promotes the abundance of GTP bound RalA, Ryu et al. [128] investigated the effect of merlin abundance on the ability for anti-RalBP1 antibody to co-immunoprecipitate GTP bound RalA. They demonstrated that transfection of merlin in NIH/ 3T3 cells reduced the quantity of GTP bound RalA that could be immunoprecipitated with the anti-RalBP1 antibody, but not in NIH/3T3 cells transfected with the merlin protein lacking residues 131-201 that fails to bind RalGDS. The investigators also showed that the quantity of GTP that could be detected by thin layer chromatography (TLC) from RalA immunoprecipitated from COS7 cells was reduced by transfection of merlin. Ryu et al. [128] also demonstrated that merlin inhibited NIH/ 3T3 colony formation in soft agar mediated by co-transfection of RalGDS and Ral A. Reductions in RalGDS-mediated cell migration was also shown in NIH/3T3 cells by using a tissue culture scrape test whereby the scraped area was repopulated more slowly in cultures that were not overexpressing merlin, and by using the transwell method showing reduced migration to a lower serum containing chamber from an upper serum-free chamber by COS7 cell cultures overexpressing merlin.

#### 3.3.10. EG1/magicin

The endothelial derived gene 1 (EG1) was first described as a gene that was upregulated in mitogen stimulated endothelial cells [129]. EG1 was later identified as a merlin interacting protein by yeast two-hybrid screening and given the name magicin, for merlin and Grb2 interacting cytoskeletal protein [130]. Magicin is a 24 kDa protein that interacts with the C-

terminal half of merlin within merlin residues 340 to the end of either merlin isoforms, and binds merlin isoform 2 stronger than merlin isoform 1. Magicin did not interact with moesin. Immunoprecipitation experiments of endogenous magicin and merlin demonstrated that the two proteins could interact in vivo in T-47D cells. Immunoprecipitation experiments using exogenous merlin with either the S518D or S518A missense mutations demonstrated that these mutations in merlin do not abrogate magicin interaction. Magicin was characterized as a widely-expressed protein present in a variety of tissues and cell lines that co-localized with merlin and actin at neurites and below plasma membranes in CAD cells [130]. The CAD cell line is CNS derived with the ability to differentiate into neurons [131]. Wiederhold et al. [130] also demonstrated that magicin and merlin co-localized at the Triton X100 insoluble cytoskeleton of CAD cells using electron microscopy.

The functional relevance of the EG1/magicin-merlin interaction might relate to magicin action in Ras signaling downstream of receptor tyrosine kinases. Magicin was found to contain a consensus sequence for interacting the SH3 domain of Grb2, and was shown to directly interact Grb2 in pull-down experiments *in vitro* and in T-47D cells by immunoprecipitation [130]. Wiederhold et al. [130] also demonstrated that magicin and Grb2 occurred in a complex with merlin. Supporting magicin role in Grb2 signaling, Lu et al. showed EG1 formed a complex with map kinase activators including Src and demonstrated that EG1 overexpression activated ERK1/2, JNK, and p38 [132]. EG1 was also overexpressed in breast, colon, and prostate tumors compared to normal tissues [133]. Merlin can also regulate ERK signaling through Raf upstream of MLK3 in osteosarcoma cells [134]<sup>1</sup>.

#### 3.3.11. HEI10

The gene for *Homo sapiens* enhancer of invasion 10 (*HEI10*) was originally identified as a growth regulatory gene from a HeLa cDNA library in a screening assay to identify cDNAs promoting agar invasion by yeast [136]. *HEI10*, mapped to chromosome 14q11.1, encodes a 277 amino acid, 32 kDa protein that directly interacts with cyclin B1 and E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme UbcH7, and possesses a RING finger critical for invasion [136]. Demonstrating a role in cell cycling, HEI10 had increased nuclear localization in exponentially growing cells, and increased cytoplasmic localization in quiescent cells. Using an *in vitro* ubiquitin transfer assay, HEI10 was also demonstrated as an E3 ubiquitin ligase that requires UbcH7 for activity [136]. Toby et al. were unable to prove or disprove that HEI10 mediated cyclin B1 ubiquitination.

HEI10 was demonstrated as a direct interactor with merlin by yeast two-hybrid screening [137]. Using a combination of yeast

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Note that the author is not aware of evidence demonstrating a direct interaction between Grb2 and merlin despite one report claiming the proteins interact that also stated that Wiederhold et al. [130] confirmed the direct interaction between the two proteins [135]. Likewise, there are various reports that merlin directly interacts with MLK3, but to date it has only been shown that MLK3 and merlin can be co-immunoprecipitated suggesting they can form a single complex [134].

two-hybrid tests of interaction and GST-based pull-down assays with full-length merlin or merlin fragments, the critical region for the interaction was identified within merlin residues 306-339, and HEI10 residues 116-200. Grönholm et al. [137] also verified the interaction by co-immunoprecipitation of exogenous merlin and HEI10 from 293HEK cells, and co-localization of endogenous merlin and HEI10 at ruffling membranes in newly plated U2OS osteosarcoma cells. Analysis of nuclear and cytoplasmic localization of merlin and HEI10 in synchronized U2OS cells demonstrated patterns for each suggestive of a partnership in growth regulation. Early on in the G1-phase both proteins were located in the nucleus and exited during the late G1-phase. HEI10 began its nuclear accumulation in the S-phase increasing in the G2 phase when merlin remained perinuclear. In merlin inducible tet-on RT4-D6P2T rat schwannoma cells. overexpression of merlin resulted in a reduction of nuclear HEI10 while cells expressing low merlin levels had nuclear HEI10. Note that the merlin interactor CRM1/exportin [138] is known for mediating nuclear transport during the G1 phase [139], and therefore the observation of G1-phase exit of nuclear merlin is consistent with a role involving CRM1/exportin in merlin nuclear translocation. Grönholm et al. [137] also showed data supporting that the active, unfolded merlin elicits a reduction of HEI10 expression. They demonstrated that HEI10 abundance was more reduced in cells overexpressing a constitutively active truncated merlin 1-547 that cannot fold than in cells overexpressing full-length merlin.

Sing et al. [140] further investigated the functional relationship between merlin and HEI10 in cell migration. Their study was somewhat surprising as it demonstrated that HEI10 is required for cellular proliferation, but unlike in yeast it is a negative regulator of invasion in mammalian cells. These authors demonstrated that HEI10 depletion inhibited the proliferation, migration, invasion and reattachment of U2OS cells, and elevated the expression of B-type cyclins. They concluded with the hypothesis that merlin loss results in abnormal HEI10 accumulation in the nucleus and impaired HEI10 ability to regulate cyclins involved in interphase migration [140].

#### 3.3.12. N-WASP

The Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome is caused by mutation in the WAS gene, located at chromosome Xp11.23-11.22, leading to altered function of the gene product WASP [141,142]. N-WASP is a ubiquitously distributed 55 kDa member of the WASP family of proteins, that when activated by cdc42 binds the Arp2/ 3 complex to nucleate actin polymerization leading to branched actin structures [143]. In an effort to identify merlin interacting proteins, Manchanda et al. [54] conducted GST pull-down experiments from 293T cells identifying WASP as a protein that interacts with merlin and other ERM proteins. In vitro transcribed and translated N-WASP interacted with the GST-FERM domains of ERM proteins including amino acids 1-332 in merlin demonstrating direct interactions. The minimally interacting region in N-WASP that tested positive for merlin binding included N-WASP amino acids 1-158. This region comprises a domain designated WH1 known for its interaction with the WASP inhibitory protein WIP, and is a region where most *WAS* mutations accounting for Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome are localized [144]. WASP and merlin also interacted *in vivo* as demonstrated by co-immunoprecipitation of endogenous proteins from 293T cells. Immunoprecipitations with anti-merlin antibodies demonstrated no co-immunoprecipitated ERM proteins suggesting that merlin and WASP forms a stronger interaction with WASP than do other ERM proteins [54]. These investigators also confirmed interaction *in vivo* by coimmunoprecipitation of FLAG tagged merlin FERM domain with myc tagged N-WASP WH1 domain.

Through their interaction with WASP, merlin and ERM proteins are negative regulators of actin polymerization. Manchanda et al. [54] demonstrated this by conducting component based in vitro polymerization assays in which they added dosewise amounts of purified merlin FERM domain to a mixture of purified Arp2/3, WASP, and pyrene-labeled actin, and quantified abundances of polymerized actin based on indirect fluorescence increases that take place upon pyreneactin polymerization. They demonstrated highly significant dosewise reductions of polymerized actin in response to dosewise changes of merlin or moesin FERM domains, but not when they used the C-terminal halves of these proteins or when a truncated WASP protein was used. Finally, Manchanda et al. [54] conduced an assay to demonstrate that radixin could inhibit Shigella flexneri mediated actin polymerization. The S. flexneri pathogen harnesses the Arp2/3 complex stimulating actin polymerization as a means of translocation through host cells. Merlin therefore appears to be both a stabilizer of the actin cytoskeleton mediated by its direct interaction with actin or its effects on the Rho and Rac pathways as described above, and an inhibitor of actin polymerization mediated through interaction with N-WASP.

#### 3.4. Growth inhibitors that function with merlin

Constituting another class of merlin interacting proteins are those whose functions are growth suppressive. There is evidence that some of these proteins are required for merlin function while others are not required but enhance merlin growth inhibition either additively or synergistically.

#### 3.4.1. MAP

The merlin associated protein (MAP) is a 749 amino acid, 84.5 kDa protein thought to be a regulator of Rab GTPases. MAP was identified as a merlin interactor by yeast two-hybrid screening [145]. The regions of interaction between MAP and merlin were narrowed by secondary yeast two-hybrid interaction tests and *in vitro* GST pull-down assays demonstrating that the MAP binding site in merlin lies within the C-terminal domain residues 288–595. The interaction was also verified to occur *in vivo* in NIH/3T3 cells by co-immunoprecipitation of overexpressed merlin with endogenous MAP, overexpressed MAP with endogenous merlin, and by co-immunoprecipitation of endogenous MAP with endogenous merlin. The interaction was supported by co-localization of MAP and merlin tagged with green fluorescent protein (GFP) and red fluorescent protein (RFP), respectively [145].

MAP possesses TBC and RUN domains suggesting MAP has significant functions in regulation of Rab GTPases. TBC domains are common in the Rab GTPases and function to increase GTP hydrolysis [146]. The RUN domain was first characterized in an effector of Rab4, Rabip4, as mediating its membrane localization at endosomes [147], the RUN domain protein RUFY possesses a FYVE domain that functions in phosphatidylinositol phosphate binding important for membrane localization and vesicular trafficking [148], and the C. elegans UNC protein with a RUN domain functions in synaptic vesicle trafficking [149]. Since Rab proteins are important for endocytic trafficking, potentially merlin localization with HRS at early endosomes [111] might be mediated by interaction with MAP. While there are few studies showing RUN domain proteins or Rab GTPases signal to Ras/MAP kinases, Lee et al. [145] hypothesized that the interaction between MAP and merlin implicated the two in MAP kinase signaling. They tested merlin's ability to effect MAP mediated inhibition of the activator protein 1 (AP-1) complex promoter, activated by the Ras Map kinase pathway, using an AP-1-luciferase reporter assay. They demonstrated that increases in MAP in NIH/3T3 cells inhibited serum mediated AP-1 activation, and that the addition of merlin further inhibited AP-1 [145]. Co-expression of both merlin and MAP also inhibited NIH/3T3 colony formation better than either protein alone [145]. The study convincingly demonstrated that MAP and merlin cooperate to inhibit cellular proliferation at least additively.

#### 3.4.2. RhoGDI

RhoGDP dissociation inhibitor (GDI)  $\alpha$  is a ubiquitously expressed member of the RhoGDI family which includes the tissue specific proteins RhoGDI $\beta$  and RhoGDI $\gamma$ . RhoGDIs control cytoskeletal remodeling by preventing GDP dissociation by Rho family members Rho, Rac and Cdc42 [150]. RhoGDI $\alpha$  is a 20 kDa protein encoded by the *ARHGDIA* gene on chromosome 17q25.3 [151,152].

A previous finding that FERM domains of ezrin, radixin and moesin interacted with RhoGDI [153] encouraged the investigation on whether or not merlin might interact with RhoGDI. Maeda et al. tested the interaction between merlin and RhoGDI using an *in vitro* binding method in which purified fragments of RhoGDI fused to GST were interacted with reverse transcribed and translated (TnT) <sup>35</sup>S-labeled merlin or merlin fragments [154]. The in vitro binding assays demonstrated that RhoGDI interacted with merlin at the merlin FERM domain within residues 1-341. The in vitro assays also suggested that RhoGDI interacted with full-length merlin isoform 2 but not with fulllength merlin isoform 1 due to its folded conformation [154]. RhoGDI interacted with merlin isoform 1 with approximately the same affinity as for isoform 2 when a small portion of the Nterminal domain was deleted. This was revealed when the investigators learned that the proteins synthesized in their TnT reactions were a mixture of merlins including a species lacking an undetermined N-terminal portion including the epitope for the Santa Cruz A-19 antibody at amino acids 2-21. The interaction between merlin and RhoGDI was validated by coimmunoprecipitation of endogenous RhoGDI with endogenous

merlin, and by partial co-localization of endogenous RhoGDI with exogenous merlin at membranes. Scatchard analysis determined a  $K_d$  for merlin and RhoGDI of 0.2  $\mu$ M, similar to that for merlin and radixin of  $K_d$ =0.6  $\mu$ M [153,154]. By testing both GST-merlin and GST-radixin for interaction with <sup>35</sup>S-labeled RhoGDI, Maeda et al. [154] demonstrated that RhoGDI binding by radixin was reduced as merlin concentration increased suggesting that radixin and merlin compete for RhoGDI binding.

RhoGDI is an inhibitor of proliferation that has been observed in elevated concentrations in some tumors [155]. Hypothetically, merlin as a tumor suppressor is an enhancer of RhoGDI function.

#### 3.4.3. Paxillin

Obermiski et al. demonstrated that merlin co-immunoprecipitated and co-localized with BI-integrin in Schwann cells [156]. Subsequent work by the investigators to determine the nature of the merlin-BI-integrin interaction led to the demonstration that merlin interacts directly with paxillin in a complex including focal adhesion kinase (FAK), and that paxillin binding mediated merlin localization with BI-integrin at the cell membrane [157]. Paxillin is a 557 amino acid protein whose gene, PAX, is located at CHR 12q24. Paxillin was validated as a merlin binding partner by co-immunoprecipitation and co-localization of endogenous proteins, and by in vitro binding studies. The in vitro binding studies demonstrated both merlin isoforms interacted with paxillin, and that there exist two paxillin binding sites in merlin, including merlin residues 50-70 and 425-450. Merlins with the naturally occurring missense mutations Trp60Cys and Phe62Ser that occur within the paxillin binding site in merlin, failed to interact with paxillin in in vitro binding assays.

The significance of merlin interaction with integrin with regard to NF2 pathogenesis may relate to signal pathways of integrin and ErbB2. Merlin in confluent cells is phosphorylated and inactive while subconfluent cells possess non-phosphorylated merlin that is active and localized to the plasma membrane [37]. Fernandez-Valle et al. [157] demonstrated that in subconfluent cells ErbB2, merlin and paxillin co-localized with  $\beta$ I-integrin at the plasma membrane while in confluent cells ErbB2 was localized with merlin and paxillin at the perinuclear cytoplasm. As pointed out by Fernandez-Valle et al., this observation is consistent with a merlin role of internalizing cell-surface receptors. In other studies, merlin overexpression inhibited trafficking of EGFR, while the merlin interacting protein HRS facilitated EGFR trafficking to the perinuclear region [158,159].

#### 3.4.4. HRS

The hepatocyte growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase substrate (HRS) is an endosomal protein that is required for the trafficking of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) from the early endosome to the lysosome where they are degraded. HRS is a 777 amino acid protein encoded by the *HGS* gene located at CHR 17q25. The author identified HRS as a merlin binding protein by yeast two-hybrid screening of an adult human brain

cDNA library [111]. The screen was conducted with the fulllength merlin isoform 2 cDNA clone resulting in a full-length cDNA clone of HRS. The interaction was validated by coimmunoprecipitation of endogenous HRS and merlin from STS26T cell extracts, co-localization in STS26T cells, and by *in vitro* binding assays [111]. Yeast two-hybrid tests of interaction identified the interacting region in merlin to within the Cterminal half of the protein, including merlin residues 256–590 [111]. Further *in vitro* testing narrowed the HRS interacting region in merlin to merlin residues 453–557 [21] and the merlin interacting region in HRS to the HRS coiled-coil domain including residues 470–497 [160].

Merlin and HRS appear to function similarly in STS26T and RT4-D6P2T cells. HRS or merlin overexpression each caused decreased abundance of active Stat3 in RT4 or STS26T cells [161]. Inducible expression of merlin and HRS also inhibited EGF activation of Stat3 in RT4 cells [158]. Merlin and HRS similarly inhibit DNA synthesis in RT4 cells [21,161]. Additionally, HRS overexpression resulted in abnormal cell spreading and motility like that seen when merlin was overexpressed [21,26].

HRS is required for trafficking of receptors from the early endosome to the lysosome, and HRS loss results in loss of multivesicular body maturation. A Drosophila study demonstrated that multivesicular body formation was lost in HRS knockout embryos which had malformed and incompletely invaginated endosomes [162]. Consistent with this HRS function, EGFR was more abundant in HeLa cells in which HRS was knocked down by RNA interference [163]. Studies by the author demonstrated that HRS trafficked exogenous EGFR to the lysosome and inhibited EGFR phosphorylation mediated by EGF in RT4 cells [158]. Therefore it is interesting that merlin's ability to inhibit colony formation in MEF cells was impaired in MEF cells generated from an HRS knockout mouse suggesting that merlin requires HRS to inhibit cellular proliferation [160]. We therefore hypothesized that merlin participates with HRS in the trafficking and downregulation of cell surface receptors in Schwann cells. However, merlin may also serve to inhibit EGFR signaling by preventing its internalization, as was demonstrated by Curto et al. (2007) in liver epithelial cells [159].

HRS is also required for the trafficking of traffic Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). TLR4 mediates innate immunity when activated by bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS), HSP60 or low density lipoproteins (LDL) [164]. TLR4 activation results in activation of p38 kinase, NF- $\kappa$ B, JNK, STAT1, and PKR [165]. It's thought that PKR activation by TLR4 causes cells to enter apoptosis [166]. Therefore, another means by which merlin might contribute to protein translational control apart from PIKE, eIF3c and TRBP is HRS regulation of PKR.

#### 3.4.5. DCC

The deleted in colorectal cancer (DCC) gene encodes one member of a complex of proteins that comprise the netrin-1 receptor functioning in neuronal guidance [167]. The protein product, DCC is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Efforts to characterize the functions of DCC in tumor suppression resulted in the elucidation of its regulatory actions on cell adhesion demonstrating that HT-29 human colon cells overexpressing DCC had increased cell-cell adhesion, but loss of cell-matrix interactions, as well as loss of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers [168]. Martin et al. noted a putative ERM binding domain in the juxtamembrane region of DCC and demonstrated that DCC interacted with both ezrin and merlin by both GST pull-down assays. GST fusions of the ezrin Nterminal domain amino acids 1-341 or the merlin N-terminal domain amino acids 1-341 interacted with GST fused to the DCC cytoplasmic tail C-terminal amino acids 1156-1447. Further interactions between DCC and ezrin were demonstrated in vivo by co-immunoprecipitation of exogenous proteins and co-localization in HT-29 cells. Martin et al. concluded that DCC regulates cell adhesion via interaction with ERM proteins. Neurite outgrowth mediated by netrin involves DCC-dependent hydrolysis of phosphatidylinositol bisphosphate (PIP2) in cortical neurons, and therefore there is the implication that merlin could participate in DCC functioning on a wider scale. This is because ezrin was shown to directly interact with PIP2 within the conserved N-terminal domain [169], and it has subsequently been speculated by many that merlin might interact with PIP2 as well.

#### 3.4.6. NGB

Lee et al. [170] described the interaction between merlin and NGB (NF2-associated GTP binding protein) in a comprehensive study including the identification of the interaction and several relevant functional features. An N-terminal domain merlin fragment (amino acids 1-374) was used in a yeast twohybrid screen of a brain cDNA library resulting in the identification of a cDNA fragment expressing 243 central residues of the NGB protein [170]. NGB is 633 amino acids in length with a GTP-binding domain and a coiled-coil residing downstream of the merlin binding region. A combination of pull-down and yeast two-hybrid experiments demonstrated two regions in merlin that interact with NGB, including merlin residues 1-52 and 288-344, and that the merlin binding region in NGB lies within the G-protein homology region including NGB residues 150-449. Note that the NGB binding sites in merlin are nearly identical to the merlin regions that interact with SCHIP-1 (Fig. 1). Supporting the interaction, both NGB and merlin co-localized to the perinuclear region of 82HTB rhabdomyosarcoma cells. Lee et al. also demonstrated that NGB with lysine 395 and arginine 394 replaced by a single alanine (NGB-K395/R394A) failed to bind merlin.

Functional analysis of the merlin–NGB interaction demonstrated that NGB is a growth inhibitor that supports merlin function that also may require merlin to inhibit growth. Analysis of NGB expression in twelve cancer cell lines demonstrated its highly variable expression. Expression of NGB inhibited the proliferation of JS1 rat schwannoma cells, demonstrated both by tritiated thymidine incorporation assay and growth of JS1 cells expressing NGB in nude mice. NGB expression also reduced cell migration attachment and aggregation. The authors then screened NGB sequences in 17 human gliomas and identified two naturally occurring NGB mutations, one of which was in the NGB coding region resulting in the P561R missense. NGB proteins with either this mutation or the NGB-K395/ R394A mutation were functionally impaired in their abilities to inhibit proliferation. The authors speculated that merlin is required for NGB-mediated inhibition of cell growth. Lee et al. demonstrated that NGB was capable of binding and hydrolyzing GTP, and showed that the presence of merlin did not alter this NGB GTPase activity suggesting that merlin acts downstream of NGB. Merlin is a ubiquitinated protein that when misfolded is degraded by the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway [171]. Lee et al. [170] showed that NGB expression inhibited merlin ubiquitination by applying a combination of methods including NGB RNA interference, merlin pulse-chase turnover assays and detection of ubiquitinated merlin complexes by immunoblotting. Finally, in follow-up to their previous study showing that merlin inhibited proliferation mainly through cyclin D1 inhibition [172], the authors investigated the effects of NGB on cyclin D1. Cyclin D1 expression was reduced in JS1 schwannoma cells by overexpression of NGB and increased by transfection of NGB small interfering RNA. The ability for NGB or merlin to inhibit cell proliferation was abrogated by overexpression of cyclin D1. The authors also presented evidence that the effect of NGB on cyclin D1 may be mediated by merlin. Since cyclin D1 is a translationally controlled protein [173], it is possible that NGB and merlin signaling converge at eIF3c mediated control of protein translation.

#### 3.4.7. Expanded

Expanded is a 1429 residue Drosophila member of the protein 4.1 superfamily that has N-terminal FERM domain homology with merlin and functions as a growth suppressor [174]. Expanded received its name because mutations in the Drosophila Expanded gene resulted in wide wings [175]. McCartney et al. [180] demonstrated that Drosophila Merlin and Expanded directly interact and cooperate synergistically to regulate cellular proliferation and developmental changes in Drosophila eyes and wing blades. In flies, Merlin and Expanded work in parallel to mediate signaling between the protocadherin FAT to the Hippo tumor suppressor pathway important in imaginal epithelial cell development and cellular proliferation [176-178]. Merlin and Expanded are also important for the regulation of adhesion receptors and EGFR [179]. A direct interaction between Merlin and Expanded was demonstrated by a series of blot overlay experiments [180]. At 635 amino acids in length, the Drosophila Merlin protein is 40 amino acids longer than human merlin. Full-length Drosophila Merlin and a Merlin fragment consisting of residues 522-635 interacted with an N-terminal FERM domain Expanded fragment of residues 1-399 but not a longer Merlin fragment of 345-635 amino acids. The result suggested that Drosophila Merlin and Expanded interact in a head-to-tail manner similar to interactions between human Merlin and other human ERM proteins, and also suggested that the larger Merlin fragment is folded, masking the Expanded binding site. Additionally, Expanded interacted itself, with self-interaction sites demonstrated within residues 1-399 and 773-1429. However, Expanded did not interact with *Drosophila* Moesin consistent with the previous observation that *Drosophila* Moesin and Merlin have unique functional properties [181]. Support for the direct interaction between Expanded and Merlin was provided by positive subcellular co-localization in imaginal disc cells [180].

The relevance of the *Drosophila* Merlin and Expanded interaction to NF2 remains unclear. Blast searching with Expanded of human protein sequences deposited in GenBank demonstrated the Expanded FERM domain possesses homologies to the human protein 4.1 family protein tyrosine phosphatases and merlin, but other domains in Expanded have poor homologies to human ERM or protein 4.1 family member proteins. Consequently, the Merlin–Expanded interaction might be limited in its relevance to NF2.

#### 3.5. Proteins with uncertain roles in merlin action

Not necessarily of lesser importance are four merlin interacting proteins whose roles are not yet clear on merlin growth suppression. CRM1/exportin mediates merlin exit from the nucleus, a function that has not yet been demonstrated required in any way for merlin growth inhibition. Caspr/ paranodin is included here because it is expressed in neurons but not Schwann cells, and RI $\beta$  is expressed primarily in the brain. These proteins may be significant to NF2 where merlin might mediate signaling between neurons and Schwann cells. The last is SCHIP1, which only interacts with truncated merlin proteins, which may not exist in tumors.

#### 3.5.1. CRM1/exportin

There have been occasional observations of merlin inside the nucleus of various cells, which are particularly pronounced for some partial proteins of merlin [17,29,57]. Kressel and Schmucker [138] examined the features of merlin that might account for nuclear localization. They observed that residues encoded by exon 2 promote cytoplasmic retention, and they identified a CRM1/exportin nuclear export signal (NES) encoded by merlin exon 15. The study suggested that merlin interacts with CRM1/exportin, a 112 kDa protein encoded by the XPO1 gene located at chromosome 2p16. Combined deletion of exon 2 and either inhibition of CRM1-mediated nuclear export by leptomycin B treatment or deletion of the NES sequence led to merlin nuclear localization in nearly all cells [138]. Alternative splicing between the two common merlin isoforms 1 and 2 did not alter the degree of nuclear localization. The NES sequence in merlin is located at merlin residues 539–551 and has the form LNELKTEIEALKL. This sequence is altered by the two naturally occurring merlin missense mutations L539H and L542H. This region is noted in Fig. 1 as the minimal region in merlin for CRM1 interaction, however it has not been formally demonstrated that merlin directly interacts with CRM1. Kressel and Schmucker [138] hypothesized that cytoplasmic retention mediated by exon 2 encoded amino acids might be the result of some form of cytoplasmic anchoring. To test whether exon 2 encoded amino acids that anchor merlin to actin might prevent nuclear translocation, Muranen et al. disrupted the actin cytoskeleton with cytochalasin D but found no effect on nuclear accumulation for merlin. Muranen et al. also demonstrated that wildtype merlin trafficking to the nucleus was dependent upon the cell cycle in a manner whereby merlin was primarily located in a perinuclear space during the G2 and M phases, and in the nucleus in the early G1 phase in subconfluent cells [182]. This observation is consistent with CRM1/exportin mediating export of NES-containing proteins in a cell-cycle dependent manner with peak expression in the G1/M phases [139], and function of merlin as a cell cycle regulator through its interaction with HEI10 and export of nuclear merlin during the G1 phase [183]. While direct interaction between CRM1/ exportin and merlin has not been demonstrated, these studies point to significant direct actions of CRM1/exportin in merlin function.

#### 3.5.2. RIB

Grönholm et al. [185] demonstrated that merlin interacts with the cAMP dependent protein kinase A (PKA) regulatory subunit RI $\beta$  in hippocampal neurons. RI $\beta$  is a protein of 330 amino acids in length and the gene for RIB, PRKAR1B, is located at CHR 7pter-p22 [184], and is most abundantly expressed in the brain [185]. The investigators demonstrated that the two proteins interact by co-immunoprecipitation of endogenous merlin with RIB fused to the green fluorescent protein (GFP) from Cos7 and HEK 293 cell extracts, and by colocalization of endogenous merlin and RIB in cultured hippocampal neurons. By using in vitro pull-down studies and yeast two-hybrid tests of interaction, RIB was shown to interact within merlin residues 252-546 [185]. By screening an array of 20-mer merlin peptides with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled RIB, a region including merlin residues 463-480 was identified as critical for the interaction [185].

Merlin interaction with RI $\beta$  suggested a possible role for merlin in learning and memory based on what was already known about RI $\beta$  in neurons [185]. Changes in the balance of the relative abundances of the regulatory and catalytic subunits of the PKA holoenzyme alters synaptic plasticity in Aplysia [186]. In *Drosophila*, flies lacking RI $\beta$  showed defective olfactory learning [187]. Investigation of hippocampal neurons in RI $\beta$  knockout mice showed that RI $\beta$  was important for normal neuronal function, including long-term potentiation and depotentiation [188].

The association between merlin and cAMP signaling through PKA also suggests a role for merlin in myelination. Schwannoma cells not in contact with the neuron lose expression of a host of myelinating proteins [189], and one important event in Schwann cell myelination is PKA stimulation by cAMP upon neuronal contact [190]. PKA activation in cultured cells by treating cells with forskolin and the phosphodiesterase inhibitor IBMX to raise cAMP abundance, resulted in merlin phosphorylation at serine 518 by PKA [35]. Additionally, because NHERF is required for cAMP mediated activation of NHE3 [118] merlin may be involved in cAMP signaling at multiple levels including feedback inhibition of merlin signaling by interaction with RI $\beta$ .

#### 3.5.3. Caspr/paranodin

Caspr, also known as paranodin, is a 190 kDa member of the neurexin superfamily of transmembrane proteins encoded on chromosome 17q21 [191,192]. Caspr/paranodin localizes to the nodes of Ranvier in the paranodal region of myelinating Schwann cells and regulates axon–glial interactions and adhesion by interacting with contactin [193–195].

The previous finding that protein 4.1B interacted caspr/ paranodin [196] encouraged Denisenko-Nehrbass et al. to test the interaction between caspr/paranodin and merlin resulting in validation of the caspr/paranodin-merlin interaction [197]. Residues 1-314 including the merlin FERM domain interacted with the C-terminal cytoplasmic domain of caspr/paranodin including a conserved motif (termed GNP) and proline rich region, but merlin could not bind when the GNP motif was deleted [197]. The interaction was demonstrated by an in vitro binding method in which purified fragments of caspr/paranodin fused to GST were interacted with reverse transcribed and translated <sup>35</sup>S-labeled merlin or merlin fragments. The interaction was validated by immunoprecipitation of merlin with exogenous C-terminal fragment of caspr/paranodin from COS7 cells, and by co-immunoprecipitation of endogenous merlin with endogenous caspr/paranodin from rat brain lysates.

The functional significance of the merlin–caspr/paranodin interaction may relate to myelination and adhesion involving  $\beta$ I-integrin. Merlin had previously been shown to form complexes with  $\beta$ I-integrin [156]. Denisenko-Nehrbass et al. [197] demonstrated that endogenous merlin and exogenous caspr/paranodin immunoprecipitated with an antibody against  $\beta$ I-integrin from Cos7 cells, and that exogenous caspr/ paranodin enhanced the  $\beta$ I-integrin–merlin association. Since caspr/paranodin is absent in Schwann cells [193], presumably the neuronal caspr/paranodin–merlin– $\beta$ I-integrin complex regulates myelination in an axon–glial mechanism.

#### 3.5.4. SCHIP1

SCHIP1 was identified as a merlin interacting protein by yeast two-hybrid screening using an N-terminal domain merlin fragment of amino acids 1-314 as the bait to screen a fetal brain cDNA library [198]. SCHIP1 is a novel protein with little similarity to other proteins except for its coiled-coil domain which shares high homology to that of FEZ proteins and C. elegans UNC-76 which are involved in axonal growth [199]. Merlin residues 1-27, and 280-323 interacted with SCHIP1 [198]. These two regions of interaction are also involved in NGB binding (Fig. 1). Immunoprecipitation studies have not demonstrated an interaction between exogenous full-length merlin and SCHIP1, however, truncated merlin proteins of both isoforms 1 and 2 strongly bind [198]. The regions in SCHIP1 where merlin interacts are not fully understood, but it is clear that the SCHIP1 coiled-coil domain, residues 419-479, strengthen binding [198]. SCHIP1 also occurs naturally as a 564 amino acid fusion protein with the calmodulin binding protein IQCJ, designated IQCJ-SCHIP1 [200]. The fusion protein results from a novel transcript that spans the two adjacent IOCJ and SCHIP1 genes located at 3q25, and is widely expressed but most highly in a normal brain. It is not known whether merlin can interact with IQCJ-SCHIP1, but the region where merlin apparently binds SCHIP1 appears to be present in IQCJ-SCHIP1.

The functional significance of the merlin–SCHIP1 interaction remains unclear. No "gain-of-function" has ever been associated with *NF2* mutations, and truncated merlin proteins are not detected in NF2 patient tumors [201]. Although an interaction has not been demonstrated between SCHIP1 and full-length merlin, it remains possible that this is due entirely to experimental conditions or weak binding and that there indeed exist interactions between these proteins with relevance to NF2.

#### 4. Conclusions

Merlin is a multifunctional tumor suppressor that interacts with several other proteins involved in the signaling of a number of pathways. Despite the considerable abundance of work on identifying merlin function, it remains unclear if any of the known merlin regulated signaling pathways is key to the development of NF2 tumors. Perhaps there is no one particular aspect of merlin function that is significant to the development of tissue specific NF2 tumors, but rather it is the loss of a unique combination of signaling pathways characteristic of merlin loss that is pathogenic. Review of the merlin interacting proteins and the pathways in which they reside reveals functional relationships (Fig. 4). These relationships suggest potential pathways that might be targeted with existing drugs. Merlin interaction with the ErbB2–Paxillin complex, PIKE, and eIF3c, effect of NGB and merlin on cyclin D1 expression, and functional consequences of merlin loss on proliferation mediated by these interactions suggest that signaling in the  $ErbB2 \rightarrow PI-3$ kinase  $\rightarrow$  mTOR  $\rightarrow$  eIF3c  $\rightarrow$  cyclin D1 pathway may contribute to NF2 pathogenesis. Drugs targeting this pathway therefore may be useful for inhibition of NF2 tumors with overactive mTOR signaling, including herceptin, LY294002, AKT inhibitors, UCN-01, Rad-001, CCI-779, and AP23573. Merlin interactions with MAP, magicin, RalGDS and RhoGDI suggest that merlin regulates Ras, Rho and Rac signaling and the map kinases downstream. Studies have shown the small GTP binding proteins as potential therapeutic targets and several new compounds against GTPases are available that merit investigation for treating NF2 [202-204]. Such drugs include p38 map kinase inhibitors KC706 or VX-702 that may be effective inhibitors of NF2 patient tumors with overactive MAP kinase signaling. Additionally, because PAK activates Ras, Rho, and Rac signaling pathways and is inhibited by merlin, specific PAK inhibitors may be useful for treating NF2, including FK228, PP1, AG879 and PAK inhibiting peptide PAK18, some of which were useful for treating NF1 deficient breast cancer in xenograft mice [205-208]. Finally, both MAP kinase and PI3-kinase/mTOR converge at the initiation of protein translation [209] and therefore targeting these pathways may be particularly effective for NF2. Efforts to assess the effectiveness of these drugs singly and in combination on NF2 tumors are needed to determine effective treatment strategies for NF2.



Fig. 4. Pathway maps for merlin action in PI3K signaling and small GTPase signaling. (A) Merlin inhibits signaling in the PI3K pathway at multiple points including direct inhibition of PIKE, eIF3c and TRBP, and inhibition of ErbB2 and EGFR by way of paxillin and HRS. Merlin loss leaves mTOR activation of protein translation unregulated. (B) Merlin interacts with multiple proteins that affect signaling of the small GTPases (Rab, Raf, Rho, Rac, Cdc42, Ral, Ras) resulting in growth inhibition.

#### References

- [1] D.G. Evans, S.M. Huson, D. Donnai, W. Neary, V. Blair, D. Teare, V. Newton, T. Strachan, R. Ramsden, R. Harris, A genetic study of type 2 neurofibromatosis in the United Kingdom. I. Prevalence, mutation rate, fitness, and confirmation of maternal transmission effect on severity, J. Med. Genet. 29 (1992) 841–846.
- [2] S.A. Narod, D.M. Parry, J. Parboosingh, G.M. Lenoir, M. Ruttledge, G. Fischer, R. Eldridge, R.L. Martuza, M. Frontali, J. Haines, et al., Neurofibromatosis type 2 appears to be a genetically homogeneous disease, Am. J. Hum. Genet. 51 (1992) 486–496.
- [3] R.L. Martuza, R. Eldridge, Neurofibromatosis 2 (bilateral acoustic neurofibromatosis), N. Engl. J. Med. 318 (1988) 684–688.
- [4] D.G. Evans, S.M. Huson, D. Donnai, W. Neary, V. Blair, V. Newton, R. Harris, A clinical study of type 2 neurofibromatosis, Q. J. Med. 84 (1992) 603–618.
- [5] D.M. Parry, R. Eldridge, M.I. Kaiser-Kupfer, E.A. Bouzas, A. Pikus, N. Patronas, Neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2): clinical characteristics of 63 affected individuals and clinical evidence for heterogeneity, Am. J. Med. Genet. 52 (1994) 450–461.
- [6] V.F. Mautner, M. Lindenau, M.E. Baser, W. Hazim, M. Tatagiba, W. Haase, M. Samii, R. Wais, S.M. Pulst, The neuroimaging and clinical spectrum of neurofibromatosis 2, Neurosurgery 38 (1996) 880–885 (discussion 885–886).
- [7] M.P. Rubio, K.M. Correa, V. Ramesh, M.M. MacCollin, L.B. Jacoby, A. von Deimling, J.F. Gusella, D.N. Louis, Analysis of the neurofibromatosis 2 gene in human ependymomas and astrocytomas, Cancer Res. 54 (1994) 45–47.
- [8] M.H. Ruttledge, J. Sarrazin, S. Rangaratnam, C.M. Phelan, E. Twist, P. Merel, O. Delattre, G. Thomas, M. Nordenskjold, V.P. Collins, et al., Evidence for the complete inactivation of the NF2 gene in the majority of sporadic meningiomas, Nat. Genet. 6 (1994) 180–184.
- [9] J. Sainz, D.P. Huynh, K. Figueroa, N.K. Ragge, M.E. Baser, S.M. Pulst, Mutations of the neurofibromatosis type 2 gene and lack of the gene product in vestibular schwannomas, Hum. Mol. Genet. 3 (1994) 885–891.
- [10] E.K. Bijlsma, P. Merel, D.A. Bosch, A. Westerveld, O. Delattre, G. Thomas, T.J. Hulsebos, Analysis of mutations in the SCH gene in schwannomas, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 11 (1994) 7–14.
- [11] L. Papi, L.R. De Vitis, F. Vitelli, F. Ammannati, P. Mennonna, E. Montali, U. Bigozzi, Somatic mutations in the neurofibromatosis type 2 gene in sporadic meningiomas, Hum. Genet. 95 (1995) 347–351.
- [12] G.A. Rouleau, P. Merel, M. Lutchman, M. Sanson, J. Zucman, C. Marineau, K. Hoang-Xuan, S. Demczuk, C. Desmaze, B. Plougastel, et al., Alteration in a new gene encoding a putative membrane-organizing protein causes neuro-fibromatosis type 2, Nature 363 (1993) 515–521.
- [13] J.A. Trofatter, M.M. MacCollin, J.L. Rutter, J.R. Murrell, M.P. Duyao, D.M. Parry, R. Eldridge, N. Kley, A.G. Menon, K. Pulaski, et al., A novel moesin-, ezrin-, radixin-like gene is a candidate for the neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor, Cell 75 (1993) 826.
- [14] A.B. Bianchi, T. Hara, V. Ramesh, J. Gao, A.J. Klein-Szanto, F. Morin, A.G. Menon, J.A. Trofatter, J.F. Gusella, B.R. Seizinger, et al., Mutations in transcript isoforms of the neurofibromatosis 2 gene in multiple human tumour types, Nat. Genet. 6 (1994) 185–192.
- [15] D.P. Huynh, T. Nechiporuk, S.M. Pulst, Alternative transcripts in the mouse neurofibromatosis type 2 (NF2) gene are conserved and code for schwannomins with distinct C-terminal domains, Hum. Mol. Genet. 3 (1994) 1075–1079.
- [16] M.J. Pykett, M. Murphy, P.R. Harnish, D.L. George, The neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2) tumor suppressor gene encodes multiple alternatively spliced transcripts, Hum. Mol. Genet. 3 (1994) 559–564.
- [17] B. Schmucker, Y. Tang, M. Kressel, Novel alternatively spliced isoforms of the neurofibromatosis type 2 tumor suppressor are targeted to the nucleus and cytoplasmic granules, Hum. Mol. Genet. 8 (1999) 1561–1570.
- [18] L.S. Chang, E.M. Akhmametyeva, Y. Wu, L. Zhu, D.B. Welling, Multiple transcription initiation sites, alternative splicing, and differential polyadenylation contribute to the complexity of human neurofibromatosis 2 transcripts, Genomics 79 (2002) 63–76.

- [19] M. Berryman, R. Gary, A. Bretscher, Ezrin oligomers are major cytoskeletal components of placental microvilli: a proposal for their involvement in cortical morphogenesis, J. Cell Biol. 131 (1995) 1231–1242.
- [20] L. Huang, E. Ichimaru, K. Pestonjamasp, X. Cui, H. Nakamura, G.Y. Lo, F.I. Lin, E.J. Luna, H. Furthmayr, Merlin differs from moesin in binding to F-actin and in its intra- and intermolecular interactions, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 248 (1998) 548–553.
- [21] D.H. Gutmann, C.A. Haipek, S.P. Burke, C.X. Sun, D.R. Scoles, S.M. Pulst, The NF2 interactor, hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate (HRS), associates with merlin in the "open" conformation and suppresses cell growth and motility, Hum. Mol. Genet. 10 (2001) 825–834.
- [22] M. Gronholm, M. Sainio, F. Zhao, L. Heiska, A. Vaheri, O. Carpen, Homotypic and heterotypic interaction of the neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor protein merlin and the ERM protein ezrin, J. Cell Sci. 112 (Pt 6) (1999) 895–904.
- [23] C. Gonzalez-Agosti, T. Wiederhold, M.E. Herndon, J. Gusella, V. Ramesh, Interdomain interaction of merlin isoforms and its influence on intermolecular binding to NHE-RF, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 34438–34442.
- [24] R. Gary, A. Bretscher, Ezrin self-association involves binding of an N-terminal domain to a normally masked C-terminal domain that includes the F-actin binding site, Mol. Biol. Cell 6 (1995) 1061–1075.
- [25] D. Reczek, M. Berryman, A. Bretscher, Identification of EBP50: a PDZcontaining phosphoprotein that associates with members of the ezrin– radixin–moesin family, J. Cell Biol. 139 (1997) 169–179.
- [26] D.H. Gutmann, L. Sherman, L. Seftor, C. Haipek, K. Hoang Lu, M. Hendrix, Increased expression of the NF2 tumor suppressor gene product, merlin, impairs cell motility, adhesion and spreading, Hum. Mol. Genet. 8 (1999) 267–275.
- [27] L. Sherman, H.M. Xu, R.T. Geist, S. Saporito-Irwin, N. Howells, H. Ponta, P. Herrlich, D.H. Gutmann, Interdomain binding mediates tumor growth suppression by the NF2 gene product, Oncogene 15 (1997) 2505–2509.
- [28] A.M. Bashour, J.J. Meng, W. Ip, M. MacCollin, N. Ratner, The neurofibromatosis type 2 gene product, merlin, reverses the F-actin cytoskeletal defects in primary human Schwannoma cells, Mol. Cell. Biol. 22 (2002) 1150–1157.
- [29] E. Brault, A. Gautreau, M. Lamarine, I. Callebaut, G. Thomas, L. Goutebroze, Normal membrane localization and actin association of the NF2 tumor suppressor protein are dependent on folding of its N-terminal domain, J. Cell Sci. 114 (2001) 1901–1912.
- [30] T. Matsui, M. Maeda, Y. Doi, S. Yonemura, M. Amano, K. Kaibuchi, S. Tsukita, Rho-kinase phosphorylates COOH-terminal threonines of ezrin/radixin/moesin (ERM) proteins and regulates their head-to-tail association, J. Cell Biol. 140 (1998) 647–657.
- [31] P.C. Simons, S.F. Pietromonaco, D. Reczek, A. Bretscher, L. Elias, C-terminal threonine phosphorylation activates ERM proteins to link the cell's cortical lipid bilayer to the cytoskeleton, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 253 (1998) 561–565.
- [32] J.L. Kissil, K.C. Johnson, M.S. Eckman, T. Jacks, Merlin phosphorylation by p21-activated kinase 2 and effects of phosphorylation on merlin localization, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 10394–10399.
- [33] J.L. Kissil, E.W. Wilker, K.C. Johnson, M.S. Eckman, M.B. Yaffe, T. Jacks, Merlin, the product of the Nf2 tumor suppressor gene, is an inhibitor of the p21-activated kinase, Pak1, Mol. Cell 12 (2003) 841–849.
- [34] G.H. Xiao, A. Beeser, J. Chernoff, J.R. Testa, p21-activated kinase links Rac/Cdc42 signaling to merlin, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 883–886.
- [35] K. Alfthan, L. Heiska, M. Gronholm, G.H. Renkema, O. Carpen, Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylates merlin at serine 518 independently of p21-activated kinase and promotes merlin–ezrin heterodimerization, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 18559–18566.
- [36] R.J. Shaw, J.G. Paez, M. Curto, A. Yaktine, W.M. Pruitt, I. Saotome, J.P. O'Bryan, V. Gupta, N. Ratner, C.J. Der, T. Jacks, A.I. McClatchey, The Nf2 tumor suppressor, merlin, functions in Rac-dependent signaling, Dev. Cell 1 (2001) 63–72.

- [37] H. Morrison, L.S. Sherman, J. Legg, F. Banine, C. Isacke, C.A. Haipek, D.H. Gutmann, H. Ponta, P. Herrlich, The NF2 tumor suppressor gene product, merlin, mediates contact inhibition of growth through interactions with CD44, Genes Dev. 15 (2001) 968–980.
- [38] R. Kumar, A.E. Gururaj, C.J. Barnes, p21-activated kinases in cancer, Nat. Rev. Cancer 6 (2006) 459–471.
- [39] A. Tikoo, M. Varga, V. Ramesh, J. Gusella, H. Maruta, An anti-Ras function of neurofibromatosis type 2 gene product (NF2/Merlin), J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 23387–23390.
- [40] Y. Hirokawa, A. Tikoo, J. Huynh, T. Utermark, C.O. Hanemann, M. Giovannini, G.H. Xiao, J.R. Testa, J. Wood, H. Maruta, A clue to the therapy of neurofibromatosis type 2: NF2/merlin is a PAK1 inhibitor, Cancer J. 10 (2004) 20–26.
- [41] D.J. Hartshorne, M. Ito, F. Erdodi, Myosin light chain phosphatase: subunit composition, interactions and regulation, J. Muscle Res. Cell Motil. 19 (1998) 325–341.
- [42] H. Jin, T. Sperka, P. Herrlich, H. Morrison, Tumorigenic transformation by CPI-17 through inhibition of a merlin phosphatase, Nature 442 (2006) 576–579.
- [43] Y. Kimura, H. Koga, N. Araki, N. Mugita, N. Fujita, H. Takeshima, T. Nishi, T. Yamashima, T.C. Saido, T. Yamasaki, K. Moritake, H. Saya, M. Nakao, The involvement of calpain-dependent proteolysis of the tumor suppressor NF2 (merlin) in schwannomas and meningiomas, Nat. Med. 4 (1998) 915–922.
- [44] Y. Kimura, H. Saya, M. Nakao, Calpain-dependent proteolysis of NF2 protein: involvement in schwannomas and meningiomas, Neuropathology 20 (2000) 153–160.
- [45] T. Kaneko, T. Yamashima, Y. Tohma, M. Nomura, S. Imajoh-Ohmi, T.C. Saido, M. Nakao, H. Saya, H. Yamamoto, J. Yamashita, Calpaindependent proteolysis of merlin occurs by oxidative stress in meningiomas: a novel hypothesis of tumorigenesis, Cancer 92 (2001) 2662–2672.
- [46] K. Ueki, C. Wen-Bin, Y. Narita, A. Asai, T. Kirino, Tight association of loss of merlin expression with loss of heterozygosity at chromosome 22q in sporadic meningiomas, Cancer Res. 59 (1999) 5995–5998.
- [47] J.J. Evans, S.S. Jeun, J.H. Lee, J.A. Harwalkar, Y. Shoshan, J.K. Cowell, M. Golubic, Molecular alterations in the neurofibromatosis type 2 gene and its protein rarely occurring in meningothelial meningiomas, J. Neurosurg. 94 (2001) 111–117.
- [48] O. Turunen, T. Wahlstrom, A. Vaheri, Ezrin has a COOH-terminal actinbinding site that is conserved in the ezrin protein family, J. Cell Biol. 126 (1994) 1445–1453.
- [49] H.M. Xu, D.H. Gutmann, Merlin differentially associates with the microtubule and actin cytoskeleton, J. Neurosci. Res. 51 (1998) 403–415.
- [50] B. Deguen, P. Merel, L. Goutebroze, M. Giovannini, H. Reggio, M. Arpin, G. Thomas, Impaired interaction of naturally occurring mutant NF2 protein with actin-based cytoskeleton and membrane, Hum. Mol. Genet. 7 (1998) 217–226.
- [51] M.F. James, N. Manchanda, C. Gonzalez-Agosti, J.H. Hartwig, V. Ramesh, The neurofibromatosis 2 protein product merlin selectively binds F-actin but not G-actin, and stabilizes the filaments through a lateral association, Biochem. J. 356 (2001) 377–386.
- [52] P.D. Pelton, L.S. Sherman, T.A. Rizvi, M.A. Marchionni, P. Wood, R.A. Friedman, N. Ratner, Ruffling membrane, stress fiber, cell spreading and proliferation abnormalities in human Schwannoma cells, Oncogene 17 (1998) 2195–2209.
- [53] A. Hall, Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton, Science 279 (1998) 509–514.
- [54] N. Manchanda, A. Lyubimova, H.Y. Ho, M.F. James, J.F. Gusella, N. Ramesh, S.B. Snapper, V. Ramesh, The NF2 tumor suppressor Merlin and the ERM proteins interact with N-WASP and regulate its actin polymerization function, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 12517–12522.
- [55] J. Sangerman, D. Kakhniashvili, A. Brown, A. Shartava, S.R. Goodman, Spectrin ubiquitination and oxidative stress: potential roles in blood and neurological disorders, Cell. Mol. Biol. Lett. 6 (2001) 607–636.
- [56] D.R. Scoles, D.P. Huynh, P.A. Morcos, E.R. Coulsell, N.G. Robinson, F. Tamanoi, S.M. Pulst, Neurofibromatosis 2 tumour suppressor schwannomin interacts with betaII-spectrin, Nat. Genet. 18 (1998) 354–359.

- [57] P.A. Morcos, D.R. Scoles, D.P. Huynh, E.R. Coulsell, S.M. Pulst, Characterization of fodrin interaction with the NF2 tumor suppressor gene product schwannomin (merlin) and varying strengths of protein binding that correlate with NF2 patient phenotypes. Neurology 48 (1997) A393.
- [58] G.W. Neill, M.R. Crompton, Binding of the merlin-I product of the neurofibromatosis type 2 tumour suppressor gene to a novel site in betafodrin is regulated by association between merlin domains, Biochem. J. 358 (2001) 727–735.
- [59] Y. Chen, P. Yu, D. Lu, D.A. Tagle, T. Cai, A novel isoform of betaspectrin II localizes to cerebellar Purkinje-cell bodies and interacts with neurofibromatosis type 2 gene product schwannomin, J. Mol. Neurosci. 17 (2001) 59–70.
- [60] V.A. Robb, W. Li, P. Gascard, A. Perry, N. Mohandas, D.H. Gutmann, Identification of a third Protein 4.1 tumor suppressor, Protein 4.1R, in meningioma pathogenesis, Neurobiol. Dis. 13 (2003) 191–202.
- [61] D.H. Gutmann, R.T. Geist, H. Xu, J.S. Kim, S. Saporito-Irwin, Defects in neurofibromatosis 2 protein function can arise at multiple levels, Hum. Mol. Genet. 7 (1998) 335–345.
- [62] N. MacDougall, Y. Lad, G.S. Wilkie, H. Francis-Lang, W. Sullivan, I. Davis, Merlin, the *Drosophila* homologue of neurofibromatosis-2, is specifically required in posterior follicle cells for axis formation in the occyte, Development 128 (2001) 665–673.
- [63] T. Muranen, M. Gronholm, A. Lampin, D. Lallemand, F. Zhao, M. Giovannini, O. Carpen, The tumor suppressor merlin interacts with microtubules and modulates Schwann cell microtubule cytoskeleton, Hum. Mol. Genet. 16 (2007) 1742–1751.
- [64] R. Nguyen, D. Reczek, A. Bretscher, Hierarchy of merlin and ezrin N- and C-terminal domain interactions in homo- and heterotypic associations and their relationship to binding of scaffolding proteins EBP50 and E3KARP, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 7621–7629.
- [65] J.J. Meng, D.J. Lowrie, H. Sun, E. Dorsey, P.D. Pelton, A.M. Bashour, J. Groden, N. Ratner, W. Ip, Interaction between two isoforms of the NF2 tumor suppressor protein, merlin, and between merlin and ezrin, suggests modulation of ERM proteins by merlin, J. Neurosci. Res. 62 (2000) 491–502.
- [66] D.B. Welling, J.M. Lasak, E. Akhmametyeva, B. Ghaheri, L.S. Chang, cDNA microarray analysis of vestibular schwannomas, Otol. Neurotol. 23 (2002) 736–748.
- [67] S. Tsukita, K. Oishi, N. Sato, J. Sagara, A. Kawai, ERM family members as molecular linkers between the cell surface glycoprotein CD44 and actin-based cytoskeletons, J. Cell Biol. 126 (1994) 391–401.
- [68] M. Sainio, F. Zhao, L. Heiska, O. Turunen, M. den Bakker, E. Zwarthoff, M. Lutchman, G.A. Rouleau, J. Jaaskelainen, A. Vaheri, O. Carpen, Neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor protein colocalizes with ezrin and CD44 and associates with actin-containing cytoskeleton, J. Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 18) (1997) 2249–2260.
- [69] Y. Bai, Y.J. Liu, H. Wang, Y. Xu, I. Stamenkovic, Q. Yu, Inhibition of the hyaluronan–CD44 interaction by merlin contributes to the tumorsuppressor activity of merlin, Oncogene 26 (2007) 836–850.
- [70] P. Bono, K. Rubin, J.M. Higgins, R.O. Hynes, Layilin, a novel integral membrane protein, is a hyaluronan receptor, Mol. Biol. Cell 12 (2001) 891–900.
- [71] M.L. Borowsky, R.O. Hynes, Layilin, a novel talin-binding transmembrane protein homologous with C-type lectins, is localized in membrane ruffles, J. Cell Biol. 143 (1998) 429–442.
- [72] P. Bono, E. Cordero, K. Johnson, M. Borowsky, V. Ramesh, T. Jacks, R.O. Hynes, Layilin, a cell surface hyaluronan receptor, interacts with merlin and radixin, Exp. Cell Res. 308 (2005) 177–187.
- [73] C.A. Kozak, A. Gatignol, K. Graham, K.T. Jeang, O.W. McBride, Genetic mapping in human and mouse of the locus encoding TRBP, a protein that binds the TAR region of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1), Genomics 25 (1995) 66–72.
- [74] M. Benkirane, C. Neuveut, R.F. Chun, S.M. Smith, C.E. Samuel, A. Gatignol, K.T. Jeang, Oncogenic potential of TAR RNA binding protein TRBP and its regulatory interaction with RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 611–624.
- [75] C.R. Eckmann, M.F. Jantsch, Xlrbpa, a double-stranded RNA-binding protein associated with ribosomes and heterogeneous nuclear RNPs, J. Cell Biol. 138 (1997) 239–253.

- [76] H. Park, M.V. Davies, J.O. Langland, H.W. Chang, Y.S. Nam, J. Tartaglia, E. Paoletti, B.L. Jacobs, R.J. Kaufman, S. Venkatesan, TAR RNA-binding protein is an inhibitor of the interferon-induced protein kinase PKR, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 91 (1994) 4713–4717.
- [77] J.O. Langland, J.M. Cameron, M.C. Heck, J.K. Jancovich, B.L. Jacobs, Inhibition of PKR by RNA and DNA viruses, Virus Res. 119 (2006) 100–110.
- [78] I.B. Rosenwald, Growth factor-independent expression of the gene encoding eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E in transformed cell lines, Cancer Lett. 98 (1995) 77–82.
- [79] I.B. Rosenwald, S. Wang, L. Savas, B. Woda, J. Pullman, Expression of translation initiation factor eIF-2alpha is increased in benign and malignant melanocytic and colonic epithelial neoplasms, Cancer 98 (2003) 1080–1088.
- [80] J.Y. Lee, H. Kim, C.H. Ryu, J.Y. Kim, B.H. Choi, Y. Lim, P.W. Huh, Y.H. Kim, K.H. Lee, T.Y. Jun, H.K. Rha, J.K. Kang, C.R. Choi, Merlin, a tumor suppressor, interacts with transactivation-responsive RNA-binding protein and inhibits its oncogenic activity, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 30265–30273.
- [81] I.W. Jeffrey, S. Kadereit, E.F. Meurs, T. Metzger, M. Bachmann, M. Schwemmle, A.G. Hovanessian, M.J. Clemens, Nuclear localization of the interferon-inducible protein kinase PKR in human cells and transfected mouse cells, Exp. Cell Res. 218 (1995) 17–27.
- [82] D.R. Scoles, W.H. Yong, Y. Qin, K. Wawrowsky, S.M. Pulst, Schwannomin inhibits tumorigenesis through direct interaction with the eukaryotic initiation factor subunit c (eIF3c), Hum. Mol. Genet. 15 (2006) 1059–1070.
- [83] M.K. Holz, B.A. Ballif, S.P. Gygi, J. Blenis, mTOR and S6K1 mediate assembly of the translation preinitiation complex through dynamic protein interchange and ordered phosphorylation events, Cell 123 (2005) 569–580.
- [84] T.R. Peterson, D.M. Sabatini, eIF3: a connecTOR of S6K1 to the translation preinitiation complex, Mol. Cell 20 (2005) 655–657.
- [85] M. Hidalgo, E.K. Rowinsky, The rapamycin-sensitive signal transduction pathway as a target for cancer therapy, Oncogene 19 (2000) 6680–6686.
- [86] G.J. Wiederrecht, C.J. Sabers, G.J. Brunn, M.M. Martin, F.J. Dumont, R.T. Abraham, Mechanism of action of rapamycin: new insights into the regulation of G1-phase progression in eukaryotic cells, Prog. Cell Cycle Res. 1 (1995) 53–71.
- [87] C.L. Hou, C. Tang, S.R. Roffler, T.K. Tang, Protein 4.1R binding to eIF3-p44 suggests an interaction between the cytoskeletal network and the translation apparatus, Blood 96 (2000) 747–753.
- [88] N.N. Nupponen, J. Isola, T. Visakorpi, Mapping the amplification of EIF3S3 in breast and prostate cancer, Genes Chromosomes Cancer 28 (2000) 203–210.
- [89] O. Saramaki, N. Willi, O. Bratt, T.C. Gasser, P. Koivisto, N.N. Nupponen, L. Bubendorf, T. Visakorpi, Amplification of EIF3S3 gene is associated with advanced stage in prostate cancer, Am. J. Pathol. 159 (2001) 2089–2094.
- [90] L. Lin, T. Holbro, G. Alonso, D. Gerosa, M.M. Burger, Molecular interaction between human tumor marker protein p150, the largest subunit of eIF3, and intermediate filament protein K7, J. Cell. Biochem. 80 (2001) 483–490.
- [91] R. Pincheira, Q. Chen, J.T. Zhang, Identification of a 170-kDa protein over-expressed in lung cancers, Br. J. Cancer 84 (2001) 1520–1527.
- [92] K. Asano, W.C. Merrick, J.W. Hershey, The translation initiation factor eIF3-p48 subunit is encoded by int-6, a site of frequent integration by the mouse mammary tumor virus genome, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 23477–23480.
- [93] C. Morris-Desbois, V. Bochard, C. Reynaud, P. Jalinot, Interaction between the Ret finger protein and the Int-6 gene product and colocalisation into nuclear bodies, J. Cell Sci. 112 (Pt 19) (1999) 3331–3342.
- [94] G.L. Mayeur, J.W. Hershey, Malignant transformation by the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 subunit p48 (eIF3e), FEBS Lett. 514 (2002) 49–54.
- [95] K. Hoareau Alves, V. Bochard, S. Rety, P. Jalinot, Association of the mammalian proto-oncoprotein Int-6 with the three protein complexes

eIF3, COP9 signalosome and 26S proteasome, FEBS Lett. 527 (2002) 15–21.

- [96] M. Rothe, Y. Ko, P. Albers, N. Wernert, Eukaryotic initiation factor 3 p110 mRNA is overexpressed in testicular seminomas, Am. J. Pathol. 157 (2000) 1597–1604.
- [97] S. Fronhoffs, G. Totzke, S. Stier, N. Wernert, M. Rothe, T. Bruning, B. Koch, A. Sachinidis, H. Vetter, Y. Ko, A method for the rapid construction of cRNA standard curves in quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction, Mol. Cell. Probes 16 (2002) 99–110.
- [98] B.J. Loftus, U.J. Kim, V.P. Sneddon, F. Kalush, R. Brandon, J. Fuhrmann, T. Mason, M.L. Crosby, M. Barnstead, L. Cronin, A. Deslattes Mays, Y. Cao, R.X. Xu, H.L. Kang, S. Mitchell, E.E. Eichler, P.C. Harris, J.C. Venter, M.D. Adams, Genome duplications and other features in 12 Mb of DNA sequence from human chromosome 16p and 16q, Genomics 60 (1999) 295–308.
- [99] J.Y. Ahn, K. Ye, PIKE GTPase signaling and function, Int. J. Biol. Sci. 1 (2005) 44–50.
- [100] R. Rong, J.Y. Ahn, H. Huang, E. Nagata, D. Kalman, J.A. Kapp, J. Tu, P.F. Worley, S.H. Snyder, K. Ye, PI3 kinase enhancer-Homer complex couples mGluRI to PI3 kinase, preventing neuronal apoptosis, Nat. Neurosci. 6 (2003) 1153–1161.
- [101] K. Ye, K.J. Hurt, F.Y. Wu, M. Fang, H.R. Luo, J.J. Hong, S. Blackshaw, C.D. Ferris, S.H. Snyder, Pike. A nuclear gtpase that enhances PI3kinase activity and is regulated by protein 4.1N, Cell 103 (2000) 919–930.
- [102] R. Rong, X. Tang, D.H. Gutmann, K. Ye, Neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2) tumor suppressor merlin inhibits phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase through binding to PIKE-L, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101 (2004) 18200–18205.
- [103] M. Jannatipour, P. Dion, S. Khan, H. Jindal, X. Fan, J. Laganiere, A.H. Chishti, G.A. Rouleau, Schwannomin isoform-1 interacts with syntenin via PDZ domains, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 33093–33100.
- [104] N. Geijsen, I.J. Uings, C. Pals, J. Armstrong, M. McKinnon, J.A. Raaijmakers, J.W. Lammers, L. Koenderman, P.J. Coffer, Cytokinespecific transcriptional regulation through an IL-5Ralpha interacting protein, Science 293 (2001) 1136–1138.
- [105] D. Lin, G.D. Gish, Z. Songyang, T. Pawson, The carboxyl terminus of B class ephrins constitutes a PDZ domain binding motif, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 3726–3733.
- [106] M. Koroll, F.G. Rathjen, H. Volkmer, The neural cell recognition molecule neurofascin interacts with syntenin-1 but not with syntenin-2, both of which reveal self-associating activity, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 10646–10654.
- [107] J.J. Grootjans, P. Zimmermann, G. Reekmans, A. Smets, G. Degeest, J. Durr, G. David, Syntenin, a PDZ protein that binds syndecan cytoplasmic domains, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 13683–13688.
- [108] M. Leivonen, J. Lundin, S. Nordling, K. von Boguslawski, C. Haglund, Prognostic value of syndecan-1 expression in breast cancer, Oncology 67 (2004) 11–18.
- [109] H. Volkmer, U. Zacharias, U. Norenberg, F.G. Rathjen, Dissection of complex molecular interactions of neurofascin with axonin-1, F11, and tenascin-R, which promote attachment and neurite formation of tectal cells, J. Cell Biol. 142 (1998) 1083–1093.
- [110] I. Fialka, P. Steinlein, H. Ahorn, G. Bock, P.D. Burbelo, M. Haberfellner, F. Lottspeich, K. Paiha, C. Pasquali, L.A. Huber, Identification of syntenin as a protein of the apical early endocytic compartment in Madin–Darby canine kidney cells, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 26233–26239.
- [111] D.R. Scoles, D.P. Huynh, M.S. Chen, S.P. Burke, D.H. Gutmann, S.M. Pulst, The neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor protein interacts with hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate, Hum. Mol. Genet. 9 (2000) 1567–1574.
- [112] P. Zimmermann, Z. Zhang, G. Degeest, E. Mortier, I. Leenaerts, C. Coomans, J. Schulz, F. N'Kuli, P.J. Courtoy, G. David, Syndecan recycling [corrected] is controlled by syntenin-PIP2 interaction and Arf6, Dev. Cell 9 (2005) 377–388.
- [113] T.H. Koo, J.J. Lee, E.M. Kim, K.W. Kim, H.D. Kim, J.H. Lee, Syntenin is overexpressed and promotes cell migration in metastatic

human breast and gastric cancer cell lines, Oncogene 21 (2002) 4080-4088.

- [114] H. Boukerche, Z.Z. Su, L. Emdad, D. Sarkar, P.B. Fisher, mda-9/Syntenin regulates the metastatic phenotype in human melanoma cells by activating nuclear factor-kappaB, Cancer Res. 67 (2007) 1812–1822.
- [115] E.J. Weinman, D. Steplock, S. Shenolikar, CAMP-mediated inhibition of the renal brush border membrane Na<sup>+</sup>-H<sup>+</sup> exchanger requires a dissociable phosphoprotein cofactor, J. Clin. Invest. 92 (1993) 1781–1786.
- [116] E.J. Weinman, D. Steplock, Y. Wang, S. Shenolikar, Characterization of a protein cofactor that mediates protein kinase A regulation of the renal brush border membrane Na<sup>+</sup>–H<sup>+</sup> exchanger, J. Clin. Invest. 95 (1995) 2143–2149.
- [117] C.H. Yun, S. Oh, M. Zizak, D. Steplock, S. Tsao, C.M. Tse, E.J. Weinman, M. Donowitz, cAMP-mediated inhibition of the epithelial brush border Na<sup>+</sup>-H<sup>+</sup> exchanger, NHE3, requires an associated regulatory protein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 94 (1997) 3010–3015.
- [118] M. Zizak, G. Lamprecht, D. Steplock, N. Tariq, S. Shenolikar, M. Donowitz, C.H. Yun, E.J. Weinman, cAMP-induced phosphorylation and inhibition of Na<sup>+</sup>-H<sup>+</sup> exchanger 3 (NHE3) are dependent on the presence but not the phosphorylation of NHE regulatory factor, J. Biol. Chem. 274 (1999) 24753–24758.
- [119] A. Murthy, C. Gonzalez-Agosti, E. Cordero, D. Pinney, C. Candia, F. Solomon, J. Gusella, V. Ramesh, NHE-RF, a regulatory cofactor for Na<sup>+</sup>-H<sup>+</sup> exchange, is a common interactor for merlin and ERM (MERM) proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 1273–1276.
- [120] E.J. Weinman, Y. Wang, F. Wang, C. Greer, D. Steplock, S. Shenolikar, A C-terminal PDZ motif in NHE3 binds NHERF-1 and enhances cAMP inhibition of sodium-hydrogen exchange, Biochemistry 42 (2003) 12662–12668.
- [121] R. Rangwala, F. Banine, J.P. Borg, L.S. Sherman, Erbin regulates mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase activation and MAP kinasedependent interactions between Merlin and adherens junction protein complexes in Schwann cells, J. Biol. Chem. 280 (2005) 11790–11797.
- [122] D. Lallemand, M. Curto, I. Saotome, M. Giovannini, A.I. McClatchey, NF2 deficiency promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis by destabilizing adherens junctions, Genes Dev. 17 (2003) 1090–1100.
- [123] Y. Chien, M.A. White, RAL GTPases are linchpin modulators of human tumour-cell proliferation and survival, EMBO Rep. 4 (2003) 800–806.
- [124] R.M. Wolthuis, J.L. Bos, Ras caught in another affair: the exchange factors for Ral, Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 9 (1999) 112–117.
- [125] A. Gonzalez-Garcia, C.A. Pritchard, H.F. Paterson, G. Mavria, G. Stamp, C.J. Marshall, RalGDS is required for tumor formation in a model of skin carcinogenesis, Cancer Cells 7 (2005) 219–226.
- [126] D. Humphrey, J. Kwiatkowska, E.P. Henske, J.L. Haines, D. Halley, M. van Slegtenhorst, D.J. Kwiatkowski, Cloning and evaluation of RALGDS as a candidate for the tuberous sclerosis gene TSC1, Ann. Hum. Genet. 61 (1997) 299–305.
- [127] I.P. Blair, C.L. Bennett, A. Abel, B.A. Rabin, J.W. Griffin, K.H. Fischbeck, D.R. Cornblath, P.F. Chance, A gene for autosomal dominant juvenile amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS4) localizes to a 500-kb interval on chromosome 9q34, Neurogenetics 3 (2000) 1–6.
- [128] C.H. Ryu, S.W. Kim, K.H. Lee, J.Y. Lee, H. Kim, W.K. Lee, B.H. Choi, Y. Lim, Y.H. Kim, T.K. Hwang, T.Y. Jun, H.K. Rha, The merlin tumor suppressor interacts with Ral guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator and inhibits its activity, Oncogene 24 (2005) 5355–5364.
- [129] C. Liu, L. Zhang, Z.M. Shao, P. Beatty, M. Sartippour, T.F. Lane, S.H. Barsky, E. Livingston, M. Nguyen, Identification of a novel endothelial-derived gene EG-1, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 290 (2002) 602–612.
- [130] T. Wiederhold, M.F. Lee, M. James, R. Neujahr, N. Smith, A. Murthy, J. Hartwig, J.F. Gusella, V. Ramesh, Magicin, a novel cytoskeletal protein associates with the NF2 tumor suppressor merlin and Grb2, Oncogene 23 (2004) 8815–8825.
- [131] Y. Li, L.X. Hou, A. Aktiv, A. Dahlstrom, Immunohistochemical characterisation of differentiated CAD cells: expression of peptides and chromogranins, Histochem. Cell Biol. 124 (2005) 25–33.
- [132] M. Lu, L. Zhang, R.S. Maul, M.R. Sartippour, A. Norris, J. Whitelegge, J.Y. Rao, M.N. Brooks, The novel gene EG-1 stimulates cellular proliferation, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 6159–6166.

- [133] L. Zhang, R.S. Maul, J. Rao, S. Apple, D. Seligson, M. Sartippour, R. Rubio, M.N. Brooks, Expression pattern of the novel gene EG-1 in cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 10 (2004) 3504–3508.
- [134] D.N. Chadee, D. Xu, G. Hung, A. Andalibi, D.J. Lim, Z. Luo, D.H. Gutmann, J.M. Kyriakis, Mixed-lineage kinase 3 regulates B-Raf through maintenance of the B-Raf/Raf-1 complex and inhibition by the NF2 tumor suppressor protein, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103 (2006) 4463–4468.
- [135] J.Y. Lim, H. Kim, S.S. Jeun, S.G. Kang, K.J. Lee, Merlin inhibits growth hormone-regulated Raf-ERKs pathways by binding to Grb2 protein, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 340 (2006) 1151–1157.
- [136] G.G. Toby, W. Gherraby, T.R. Coleman, E.A. Golemis, A novel RING finger protein, human enhancer of invasion 10, alters mitotic progression through regulation of cyclin B levels, Mol. Cell. Biol. 23 (2003) 2109–2122.
- [137] M. Gronholm, T. Muranen, G.G. Toby, T. Utermark, C.O. Hanemann, E.A. Golemis, O. Carpen, A functional association between merlin and HEI10, a cell cycle regulator, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4389–4398.
- [138] M. Kressel, B. Schmucker, Nucleocytoplasmic transfer of the NF2 tumor suppressor protein merlin is regulated by exon 2 and a CRM1-dependent nuclear export signal in exon 15, Hum. Mol. Genet. 11 (2002) 2269–2278.
- [139] N. Kudo, S. Khochbin, K. Nishi, K. Kitano, M. Yanagida, M. Yoshida, S. Horinouchi, Molecular cloning and cell cycle-dependent expression of mammalian CRM1, a protein involved in nuclear export of proteins, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 29742–29751.
- [140] M.K. Singh, E. Nicolas, W. Gherraby, D. Dadke, S. Lessin, E.A. Golemis, HEI10 negatively regulates cell invasion by inhibiting cyclin B/Cdk1 and other promotility proteins, Oncogene 26 (2007) 4825–4832.
- [141] T. Hara, M. Yamauchi, E. Takahashi, M. Hoshino, K. Aoki, D. Ayusawa, M. Kawakita, The UDP-galactose translocator gene is mapped to band Xp11.23-p11.22 containing the Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome locus, Somat. Cell Mol. Genet. 19 (1993) 571–575.
- [142] S.P. Kwan, T. Lehner, T. Hagemann, B. Lu, M. Blaese, H. Ochs, R. Wedgwood, J. Ott, I.W. Craig, F.S. Rosen, Localization of the gene for the Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome between two flanking markers, TIMP and DXS255, on Xp11.22-Xp11.3, Genomics 10 (1991) 29–33.
- [143] R. Rohatgi, L. Ma, H. Miki, M. Lopez, T. Kirchhausen, T. Takenawa, M.W. Kirschner, The interaction between N-WASP and the Arp2/3 complex links Cdc42-dependent signals to actin assembly, Cell 97 (1999) 221–231.
- [144] W.L. Greer, A. Shehabeldin, J. Schulman, A. Junker, K.A. Siminovitch, Identification of WASP mutations, mutation hotspots and genotype– phenotype disparities in 24 patients with the Wiskott–Aldrich syndrome, Hum. Genet. 98 (1996) 685–690.
- [145] I.K. Lee, K.S. Kim, H. Kim, J.Y. Lee, C.H. Ryu, H.J. Chun, K.U. Lee, Y. Lim, Y.H. Kim, P.W. Huh, K.H. Lee, S.I. Han, T.Y. Jun, H.K. Rha, MAP, a protein interacting with a tumor suppressor, merlin, through the run domain, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 325 (2004) 774–783.
- [146] X. Pan, S. Eathiraj, M. Munson, D.G. Lambright, TBC-domain GAPs for Rab GTPases accelerate GTP hydrolysis by a dual-finger mechanism, Nature 442 (2006) 303–306.
- [147] M. Mari, E. Macia, Y. Le Marchand-Brustel, M. Cormont, Role of the FYVE finger and the RUN domain for the subcellular localization of Rabip4, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 42501–42508.
- [148] J. Yang, O. Kim, J. Wu, Y. Qiu, Interaction between tyrosine kinase Etk and a RUN domain- and FYVE domain-containing protein RUFY1. A possible role of ETK in regulation of vesicle trafficking, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 30219–30226.
- [149] R. Sakamoto, D.T. Byrd, H.M. Brown, N. Hisamoto, K. Matsumoto, Y. Jin, The *Caenorhabditis elegans* UNC-14 RUN domain protein binds to the kinesin-1 and UNC-16 complex and regulates synaptic vesicle localization, Mol. Biol. Cell 16 (2005) 483–496.
- [150] A. Hall, Ras-related GTPases and the cytoskeleton, Mol. Biol. Cell 3 (1992) 475–479.
- [151] H. Leffers, M.S. Nielsen, A.H. Andersen, B. Honore, P. Madsen, J. Vandekerckhove, J.E. Celis, Identification of two human Rho GDP dissociation inhibitor proteins whose overexpression leads to disruption of the actin cytoskeleton, Exp. Cell Res. 209 (1993) 165–174.

- [152] Y. Fukumoto, K. Kaibuchi, Y. Hori, H. Fujioka, S. Araki, T. Ueda, A. Kikuchi, Y. Takai, Molecular cloning and characterization of a novel type of regulatory protein (GDI) for the rho proteins, ras p21-like small GTP-binding proteins, Oncogene 5 (1990) 1321–1328.
- [153] K. Takahashi, T. Sasaki, A. Mammoto, K. Takaishi, T. Kameyama, S. Tsukita, Y. Takai, Direct interaction of the Rho GDP dissociation inhibitor with ezrin/radixin/moesin initiates the activation of the Rho small G protein, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 23371–23375.
- [154] M. Maeda, T. Matsui, M. Imamura, S. Tsukita, Expression level, subcellular distribution and rho-GDI binding affinity of merlin in comparison with ezrin/radixin/moesin proteins, Oncogene 18 (1999) 4788–4797.
- [155] G. Fritz, C. Brachetti, F. Bahlmann, M. Schmidt, B. Kaina, Rho GTPases in human breast tumours: expression and mutation analyses and correlation with clinical parameters, Br. J. Cancer 87 (2002) 635–644.
- [156] V.J. Obremski, A.M. Hall, C. Fernandez-Valle, Merlin, the neurofibromatosis type 2 gene product, and beta1 integrin associate in isolated and differentiating Schwann cells, J. Neurobiol. 37 (1998) 487–501.
- [157] C. Fernandez-Valle, Y. Tang, J. Ricard, A. Rodenas-Ruano, A. Taylor, E. Hackler, J. Biggerstaff, J. Iacovelli, Paxillin binds schwannomin and regulates its density-dependent localization and effect on cell morphology, Nat. Genet. 31 (2002) 354–362.
- [158] D.R. Scoles, Y. Qin, V. Nguyen, D.H. Gutmann, S.M. Pulst, HRS inhibits EGF receptor signaling in the RT4 rat schwannoma cell line, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 335 (2005) 385–392.
- [159] M. Curto, B.K. Cole, D. Lallemand, C.H. Liu, A.I. McClatchey, Contactdependent inhibition of EGFR signaling by Nf2/Merlin, J. Cell Biol. 177 (2007) 893–903.
- [160] C.X. Sun, C. Haipek, D.R. Scoles, S.M. Pulst, M. Giovannini, M. Komada, D.H. Gutmann, Functional analysis of the relationship between the neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor and its binding partner, hepatocyte growth factor-regulated tyrosine kinase substrate, Hum. Mol. Genet. 11 (2002) 3167–3178.
- [161] D.R. Scoles, V.D. Nguyen, Y. Qin, C.X. Sun, H. Morrison, D.H. Gutmann, S.M. Pulst, Neurofibromatosis 2 (NF2) tumor suppressor schwannomin and its interacting protein HRS regulate STAT signaling, Hum. Mol. Genet. 11 (2002) 3179–3189.
- [162] T.E. Lloyd, R. Atkinson, M.N. Wu, Y. Zhou, G. Pennetta, H.J. Bellen, Hrs regulates endosome membrane invagination and tyrosine kinase receptor signaling in *Drosophila*, Cell 108 (2002) 261–269.
- [163] K.G. Bache, C. Raiborg, A. Mehlum, H. Stenmark, STAM and Hrs are subunits of a multivalent ubiquitin-binding complex on early endosomes, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 12513–12521.
- [164] K.S. Michelsen, T.M. Doherty, P.K. Shah, M. Arditi, TLR signaling: an emerging bridge from innate immunity to atherogenesis, J. Immunol. 173 (2004) 5901–5907.
- [165] L.C. Hsu, J.M. Park, K. Zhang, J.L. Luo, S. Maeda, R.J. Kaufman, L. Eckmann, D.G. Guiney, M. Karin, The protein kinase PKR is required for macrophage apoptosis after activation of Toll-like receptor 4, Nature 428 (2004) 341–345.
- [166] Y. Asakura, Y. Fujiwara, N. Kato, Y. Sato, T. Komatsu, Serine/threonine kinase PKR: a sentinel kinase that discriminates a signaling pathway mediated by TLR4 from those mediated by TLR3 and TLR9, Am. J. Hematol. 82 (2006) 640–642.
- [167] P. Mehlen, A. Bernet, Netrin PIPes up, Nat. Cell Biol. 7 (2005) 1052–1053.
- [168] M. Martin, P. Simon-Assmann, M. Kedinger, P. Mangeat, F.X. Real, M. Fabre, DCC regulates cell adhesion in human colon cancer derived HT-29 cells and associates with ezrin, Eur J. Cell Biol. 85 (2006) 769–783.
- [169] C. Barret, C. Roy, P. Montcourrier, P. Mangeat, V. Niggli, Mutagenesis of the phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate (PIP(2)) binding site in the NH(2)-terminal domain of ezrin correlates with its altered cellular distribution, J. Cell Biol. 151 (2000) 1067–1080.
- [170] H. Lee, D. Kim, H.C. Dan, E.L. Wu, T.M. Gritsko, C. Cao, S.V. Nicosia, E.A. Golemis, W. Liu, D. Coppola, S.S. Brem, J.R. Testa, J.Q. Cheng, Identification and characterization of putative tumor suppressor NGB, a GTP-binding protein that interacts with the neurofibromatosis 2 protein, Mol. Cell. Biol. 27 (2007) 2103–2119.

- [171] A. Gautreau, J. Manent, B. Fievet, D. Louvard, M. Giovannini, M. Arpin, Mutant products of the NF2 tumor suppressor gene are degraded by the ubiquitin–proteasome pathway, J. Biol. Chem. 277 (2002) 31279–31282.
- [172] G.H. Xiao, R. Gallagher, J. Shetler, K. Skele, D.A. Altomare, R.G. Pestell, S. Jhanwar, J.R. Testa, The NF2 tumor suppressor gene product, merlin, inhibits cell proliferation and cell cycle progression by repressing cyclin D1 expression, Mol. Cell. Biol. 25 (2005) 2384–2394.
- [173] J.R. Graff, S.G. Zimmer, Translational control and metastatic progression: enhanced activity of the mRNA cap-binding protein eIF-4E selectively enhances translation of metastasis-related mRNAs, Clin. Exp. Metastasis 20 (2003) 265–273.
- [174] M. Boedigheimer, P. Bryant, A. Laughon, Expanded, a negative regulator of cell proliferation in *Drosophila*, shows homology to the NF2 tumor suppressor, Mech. Dev. 44 (1993) 83–84.
- [175] C. Stern, C.P. Bridges, The mutants on the extreme left arm of chromosome two of *Drosophila melanogaster*, Genetics 11 (1926) 503–530.
- [176] F. Hamaratoglu, M. Willecke, M. Kango-Singh, R. Nolo, E. Hyun, C. Tao, H. Jafar-Nejad, G. Halder, The tumour-suppressor genes NF2/ Merlin and Expanded act through Hippo signalling to regulate cell proliferation and apoptosis, Nat. Cell Biol. 8 (2006) 27–36.
- [177] M. Willecke, F. Hamaratoglu, M. Kango-Singh, R. Udan, C.L. Chen, C. Tao, X. Zhang, G. Halder, The Fat Cadherin acts through the Hippo tumor-suppressor pathway to regulate tissue size, Curr. Biol. 16 (2006) 2090–2100.
- [178] E. Cho, Y. Feng, C. Rauskolb, S. Maitra, R. Fehon, K.D. Irvine, Delineation of a Fat tumor suppressor pathway, Nat. Genet. 38 (2006) 1142–1150.
- [179] S. Maitra, R.M. Kulikauskas, H. Gavilan, R.G. Fehon, The tumor suppressors Merlin and Expanded function cooperatively to modulate receptor endocytosis and signaling, Curr. Biol. 16 (2006) 702–709.
- [180] B.M. McCartney, R.M. Kulikauskas, D.R. LaJeunesse, R.G. Fehon, The neurofibromatosis-2 homologue, Merlin, and the tumor suppressor expanded function together in *Drosophila* to regulate cell proliferation and differentiation, Development 127 (2000) 1315–1324.
- [181] B.M. McCartney, R.G. Fehon, Distinct cellular and subcellular patterns of expression imply distinct functions for the *Drosophila* homologues of moesin and the neurofibromatosis 2 tumor suppressor, merlin, J. Cell Biol. 133 (1996) 843–852.
- [182] T. Muranen, M. Gronholm, G.H. Renkema, O. Carpen, Cell cycledependent nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the neurofibromatosis 2 tumour suppressor merlin, Oncogene 24 (2005) 1150–1158.
- [183] M. Grönholm, T. Muranen, G.G. Toby, T. Utermark, C.O. Hanemann, E. A. Golemis, O. Carpen, A functional association between merlin and HEI10, a cell cycle regulator, Oncogene 25 (2006) 4389–4398.
- [184] R. Solberg, P. Sistonen, A.L. Traskelin, D. Berube, J. Simard, P. Krajci, T. Jahnsen, A. de la Chapelle, Mapping of the regulatory subunits RI beta and RII beta of cAMP-dependent protein kinase genes on human chromosome 7, Genomics 14 (1992) 63–69.
- [185] M. Gronholm, L. Vossebein, C.R. Carlson, J. Kuja-Panula, T. Teesalu, K. Alfthan, A. Vaheri, H. Rauvala, F.W. Herberg, K. Tasken, O. Carpen, Merlin links to the cAMP neuronal signaling pathway by anchoring the RIbeta subunit of protein kinase A, J. Biol. Chem. 278 (2003) 41167–41172.
- [186] A.N. Hegde, A.L. Goldberg, J.H. Schwartz, Regulatory subunits of cAMP-dependent protein kinases are degraded after conjugation to ubiquitin: a molecular mechanism underlying long-term synaptic plasticity, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 90 (1993) 7436–7440.
- [187] S.F. Goodwin, M. Del Vecchio, K. Velinzon, C. Hogel, S.R. Russell, T. Tully, K. Kaiser, Defective learning in mutants of the *Drosophila* gene for a regulatory subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase, J. Neurosci. 17 (1997) 8817–8827.
- [188] E.P. Brandon, M. Zhuo, Y.Y. Huang, M. Qi, K.A. Gerhold, K.A. Burton, E.R. Kandel, G.S. McKnight, R.L. Idzerda, Hippocampal long-term depression and depotentiation are defective in mice carrying a targeted disruption of the gene encoding the RI beta subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 92 (1995) 8851–8855.

- [189] G. Hung, J. Colton, L. Fisher, M. Oppenheimer, R. Faudoa, W. Slattery, F. Linthicum, Immunohistochemistry study of human vestibular nerve schwannoma differentiation, Glia 38 (2002) 363–370.
- [190] D.G. Howe, K.D. McCarthy, Retroviral inhibition of cAMP-dependent protein kinase inhibits myelination but not Schwann cell mitosis stimulated by interaction with neurons, J. Neurosci. 20 (2000) 3513–3521.
- [191] Y.A. Ushkaryov, A.G. Petrenko, M. Geppert, T.C. Sudhof, Neurexins: synaptic cell surface proteins related to the alpha-latrotoxin receptor and laminin, Science 257 (1992) 50–56.
- [192] E. Peles, M. Nativ, M. Lustig, M. Grumet, J. Schilling, R. Martinez, G.D. Plowman, J. Schlessinger, Identification of a novel contactin-associated transmembrane receptor with multiple domains implicated in protein– protein interactions, EMBO J. 16 (1997) 978–988.
- [193] S. Einheber, G. Zanazzi, W. Ching, S. Scherer, T.A. Milner, E. Peles, J.L. Salzer, The axonal membrane protein Caspr, a homologue of neurexin IV, is a component of the septate-like paranodal junctions that assemble during myelination, J. Cell Biol. 139 (1997) 1495–1506.
- [194] H.J. Bellen, Y. Lu, R. Beckstead, M.A. Bhat, Neurexin IV, caspr and paranodin-novel members of the neurexin family: encounters of axons and glia, Trends Neurosci. 21 (1998) 444–449.
- [195] L. Gollan, D. Salomon, J.L. Salzer, E. Peles, Caspr regulates the processing of contactin and inhibits its binding to neurofascin, J. Cell Biol. 163 (2003) 1213–1218.
- [196] M. Menegoz, P. Gaspar, M. Le Bert, T. Galvez, F. Burgaya, C. Palfrey, P. Ezan, F. Arnos, J.A. Girault, Paranodin, a glycoprotein of neuronal paranodal membranes, Neuron 19 (1997) 319–331.
- [197] N. Denisenko-Nehrbass, L. Goutebroze, T. Galvez, C. Bonnon, B. Stankoff, P. Ezan, M. Giovannini, C. Faivre-Sarrailh, J.A. Girault, Association of Caspr/paranodin with tumour suppressor schwannomin/ merlin and beta1 integrin in the central nervous system, J. Neurochem. 84 (2003) 209–221.
- [198] L. Goutebroze, E. Brault, C. Muchardt, J. Camonis, G. Thomas, Cloning and characterization of SCHIP-1, a novel protein interacting specifically with spliced isoforms and naturally occurring mutant NF2 proteins, Mol. Cell. Biol. 20 (2000) 1699–1712.
- [199] S. Kuroda, N. Nakagawa, C. Tokunaga, K. Tatematsu, K. Tanizawa, Mammalian homologue of the *Caenorhabditis elegans* UNC-76 protein

involved in axonal outgrowth is a protein kinase C zeta-interacting protein, J. Cell Biol. 144 (1999) 403–411.

- [200] D.A. Kwasnicka-Crawford, A.R. Carson, S.W. Scherer, IQCJ-SCHIP1, a novel fusion transcript encoding a calmodulin-binding IQ motif protein, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 350 (2006) 890–899.
- [201] M.A. Den Bakker, A.A. van Tilborg, J.M. Kros, E.C. Zwarthoff, Truncated NF2 proteins are not detected in meningiomas and schwannomas, Neuropathology 21 (2001) 168–173.
- [202] S. Aznar, P. Fernandez-Valeron, C. Espina, J.C. Lacal, Rho GTPases: potential candidates for anticancer therapy, Cancer Lett. 206 (2004) 181–191.
- [203] H. Shirai, M. Autieri, S. Eguchi, Small GTP-binding proteins and mitogen-activated protein kinases as promising therapeutic targets of vascular remodeling, Curr. Opin. Nephrol. Hypertens. 16 (2007) 111–115.
- [204] G. Fritz, B. Kaina, Rho GTPases: promising cellular targets for novel anticancer drugs, Curr. Cancer Drug Targets 6 (2006) 1–14.
- [205] H. Maruta, H. He, A. Tikoo, M. Nur-e-Kamal, Cytoskeletal tumor suppressors that block oncogenic RAS signaling, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 886 (1999) 48–57.
- [206] H. He, Y. Hirokawa, E. Manser, L. Lim, A. Levitzki, H. Maruta, Signal therapy for RAS-induced cancers in combination of AG 879 and PP1, specific inhibitors for ErbB2 and Src family kinases, that block PAK activation, Cancer J. 7 (2001) 191–202.
- [207] Y. Hirokawa, H. Nakajima, C.O. Hanemann, A. Kurtz, S. Frahm, V. Mautner, H. Maruta, Signal therapy of NF1-deficient tumor xenograft in mice by the anti-PAK1 drug FK228, Cancer Biol. Ther. 4 (2005) 379–381.
- [208] Y. Hirokawa, A. Levitzki, G. Lessene, J. Baell, Y. Xiao, H. Zhu, H. Maruta, Signal therapy of human pancreatic cancer and NF1-deficient breast cancer xenograft in mice by a combination of PP1 and GL-2003, anti-PAK1 drugs (Tyr-kinase inhibitors), Cancer Lett. 245 (2007) 242–251.
- [209] D. Shahbazian, P.P. Roux, V. Mieulet, M.S. Cohen, B. Raught, J. Taunton, J.W. Hershey, J. Blenis, M. Pende, N. Sonenberg, The mTOR/ PI3K and MAPK pathways converge on eIF4B to control its phosphorylation and activity, EMBO J. 25 (2006) 2781–2791.
- [210] R. Nguyen, D. Reczek, A. Bretscher, Hierarchy of merlin and ezrin Nand C-terminal domain interactions in homo- and heterotypic associations and their relationship to binding of scaffolding proteins EBP50 and E3KARP, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 7621–7629.